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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FEHEE

.

To Our Fellow Shareholders

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | hereby
present the annual results of China Solar Energy Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2009.

OPERATING RESULTS

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group recorded
a turnover of HK$18,475,000 (2008: HK$97,668,000). The
loss attributable to equity holders was HK$44,383,000
(2008: HK$215,125,000).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2009.

OUTLOOK

The Group believes that thin film photovoltaic (PV)
technology which has been around since late 70s will
continue to lead the PV sector for several years to
come. Thin film PV modules are ideal for use in Building
Integrated Photovoltaics (BIPV). Thin film BIPV has
accumulated considerable attention with its promise to
bring an era of pervasive solar PV that is aesthetically
pleasing, cost effective and a mainstream building
powering technology. Thin film BIPV will change the
energy paradigm of contemporary architect; buildings will
shift from consuming to producing energy.

China Solar Energy specializes in thin film amorphous
silicon (a-Si) technology. Thin film a-Si combines the
advantages associated with all thin film technologies,
notably reduced bulk and weight, flexibility, and the
potential for lower-cost manufacturing, with benefits
typically associated with a mature technology — established
processes and equipment.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FfEREE

New Nanomarkets Report projects that US$1.3 billion
in revenues for thin film amorphous silicon based
photovoltaics this year will grow to US$4.1 billion in the
year 2014.

In addition to technological improvements, government
support and incentives will also play a role in the PV
industry formation. While much of the attention has been
focused on China’s rapid rise, major national initiatives are
just beginning in India, Korea and the Middle East. Based
on a report from Renewable Energy World Magazine,
the Indian government’s Special Incentives Package
Schemes (SIPS) will create enormous cell, wafer and
module manufacturing capacity, and India’s Generation
Based Incentives are only in the first year of a 10-year
feed-in tariff schedule. Generous feed-in tariffs in Korea
may make that country Asia’s largest solar market by
2012. Meanwhile, the United Arab Emirates is allocating
$22 billion towards renewable energy development and
implementation, and increasing solar investments are
being made by Qatar and the government of Abu Dhabi.

Looking forward, the Group believes that the development
of amorphous silicon PV modules with improved efficiency
will be the key to amorphous silicon maintaining its
dominant position in the thin film PV marketplace.

Aside from seeking potential partners to research and
develop on BIPV to drive wide scale adoption of thin film
PV in many more construction elements, China Solar
will continue to bring down production costs, improve
conversion efficiencies and research and develop on next
generation PV technologies.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FfEREE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my heartfelt appreciation to our shareholders,
investors and business partners for their continued support
and confidence in the Group. | would also like to thank the
management team and all staff members for their devoted
service and loyalty.

Last, but not least, | would like to thank my fellow directors

who have offered invaluable advice and leadership over
the year.

Henry J. Behnke lll
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 July 2009
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEBEFWmE D

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS (¥REERAIR

During the year under review, the Group continues to EOEFEAN  AEBEESIN=-HFE
be principally engaged in three major businesses — HZER  NRER  RREEMNELRAMISE
photovoltaic business, strategic investments as well as B LA N B E TS o

capital market activities and financing business.

Photovoltaic Business HARFEK

For the year under review, the company has successfully EBREN—Fh  REBRKINMAZNTE—
delivered the first SnO2 (solar base plates) production G KFSEESNO, (BEEIWIER ) MAEELR °
line. As a result, revenue contributed by this segment was AR EREEEFE S 3%516,200,00078
HK$16,200,000 (2008: HK$93,000,000). 7T (ZZFZE )\ 493,000,000/ 7T) °
Strategic Investments and Capital Market RBIRENMEARTIHEEH

Activities

Due to the global financial turmoil, which occurred towards AREFTEFRBRE2 NS RIEE - &
the end of the financial year, the Hong Kong stock market BYETESeRME EMtbEEFTE
has been affected significantly. Because of this, the result AREBFENBERNELS  ZIBEBKES
of this segment was a loss of HK$33,267,000 (2008: E51833,267,000/8 T (—EZENFE LB
HK$1,978,000). 1,978,000/87T) °

Financing Business SRR

For the year under review, turnover contributed by this EARAREFEN SRAEBNSEBAEE
segment was HK$892,000 (2008: HK$2,561,000) while #892,0007T (= & & /\ F 52,561,000/
result of this segment was a loss of HK$14,000 (2008: a IT)  FEEE A14,0008 0 (ZEENF
profit of HK$5,043,000). & ¥ £5,043,00087T) °

Overall mak

Due to the evolving PV market condition, China Solar is ENNIERMENTERE  EENXE
committed to advancing our thin film PV manufacturing DR AR KERENEERM - HPIGETK
technology; as a result we are expecting a delay in our HiTEsohEr AXNESEBEHES
delivery schedule of the remaining 30 units of SMW thin TR KEGEE A al8R T 30165 K LWL IRERE A
film a-Si PV manufacturing equipment to our partner China EGRENGIE - Bt - BMERIKERA
Stream Fund Solar Energy Co. We plan to fulfill this order R (B EE) o Royal Legend DMCC
once we have completed our technical advancement FIP&M (Int'l) Industrial CoM) X EHI TN IE
upgrade. In this regard, deliveries of the two thin film & o

amorphous silicon modules distribution contracts with
Royal Legend DMCC and P&M (Int’l) Industrial Co will be
postponed accordingly.
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9

We have delivered the first SnO2 (solar base plates)
production line to China Merchants Zhangzhou
Development Zone Trenda Solar Limited (“Trenda”), a
subsidiary of China Technology Development Group
Corporation, in Zhangzhou China (listed on NASDAQ).
We are currently upgrading the manufacturing output
and manufacturing yields of the SnO:2 production line,
therefore, we expect the remaining order to be fulfilled

thereafter.

The Joint Venture Company, Jiangxi Ganneng China-
Solar New Energy Co., Ltd, with our joint venture partner,
Jiangxi Ganneng Co Ltd (listed on the Shenzhen stock
exchange (000899.CH), was mutually agreed to dissolve
on 24 February 2009. We have not made any capital
contribution of the registered capital into the Joint Venture
Company and we are of the view that the dissolution of
the Joint Venture Company does not have any material
adverse impact to the operations and financial position
of the Group.

In order to comply with the demand of the growing thin
film PV industry, the Group will continuously improve
our technology to attain higher levels of output. As such;
we are undergoing 2 new developments in the areas of
manufacturing processes and manufacturing equipment.
China Solar has located a few interested parties; we are
currently negotiating the purchasing terms with these
potentials parties.

China Solar is dedicated in bringing manufacturing costs
down while improving conversion efficiencies to meet
the demand of China’s new renewable energy subsidy
programs. According to the Chinese Ministry of Finance
announcement in March 2009, the Chinese central
government will subsidize BIPV (building-integrated)
applications in medium and large cities and off-grid
applications in rural and remote areas, which will be
financed by specialized renewable energy funds. The
Group will exploit on China’s renewable energy scheme
and to actively seek business partners to deploy wide-
scale BIPV projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEBEFWmE D

The world is transforming to a low-carbon economy to
reduce greenhouse gases and to ease climate change.
China Solar will continue to provide clean, affordable
solar electricity to make it a viable alternative to traditional
energy sources.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group recorded a
total turnover of HK$18,475,000 (2008: HK$97,668,000).
The decrease was mainly due to the postponement in
delivery schedule which was affected by the changes in
the PV market. In order for the group to meet the growth
of the PV industry, we are dedicated in modifying and
improving our manufacturing technologies.

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was
HK$44,383,000 (2008: HK$215,125,000). The loss
attributable for the year mainly because:

(@) Net loss on the held-for-trading investments of
HK$29,310,000 (2008: gain of HK$1,206,000)
recorded during the year.

(b)  Share of loss of an associate of HK$6,738,000
(2008: HK$582,000) has been made during the
year.

(c)  Allowance for bad and doubtful debt on trade and
other receivable of HK$47,385,000 (2008: reversal
of bad and doubtful debt of HK$2,500,000) has
been made during the year under review.

(d) Allowance for trade deposit of HK$23,938,000
(2008: nil) has been made during the year under
review.

(e) Allowance for an amount due from the majority
shareholder of an associate of HK$10,000,000
(2008: nil) has been made for the year.
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(f) During the year, no (2008: HK$117,099,000) non-
cash expenses was incurred for share options
granted.

(9) An amortisation of intangible assets of
HK$14,058,000 (2008: HK$14,058,000).

(h)  Net gain on derivative financial instruments of
HK$112,370,000 (2008: loss of HK$87,230,000)
recognised during the year.

If the above factors were taken out the operating result after
adjusting the above factors was a loss of HK$25,324,000
(2008: profit of HK$138,000).

Liquidity, Finance Resources and Funding

At 31 March 2009, the Group had net current asset of
HK$117,078,000 (2008: HK$143,145,000) and cash and
cash equivalents to HK$8,003,000 (2008: HK$48,639,000).
The decreases were mainly because part of the cash was
paid to supplier and provision for loss, impairment, bad
and doubtful debt made during the year under review.

The liquidity ratio of the Group, represented by a ratio
between current assets over current liabilities, was
406% (2008: 200%) and it reflects adequacy of financial
resources.

The indebtedness of the Group as at 31 March 2009
was HK$22,191,000 (2008: HK$600,000), representing
an unsecured term loan from a shareholder and an
outstanding unsecured amounts due to shareholders of
the Group.

Foreign Exchange Exposure
The Group was exposed to a very limited level of exchange
risk as the foreign currency that the Group dealing with

are mainly denominated in US dollars to which Hong Kong
dollars was pegged.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEBEFWmE D

Share Capital Structure

In November 2007, the Company issued 751,980,000
listed warrants (“the Warrants”) by way of private placing
at the issue price of HK$0.034, each conferring the right to
subscribe for one new shares at the initial exercise price of
HK$0.52 up to an aggregate amount of HK$391,029,600
at any time during the period from 13 November 2008 to
12 November 2009. During the year, none of the Warrants
had been exercised. The exercise price of the Warrants
was adjusted to HK$0.43 as a result of the completion of
the rights issue on 23 July 2009.

During the year, none of the share options had been
exercised.

In July 2009, the Company issued 2,186,000,929 rights
shares at the issue price of HK$0.08, each on the basis
of one rights share for every two shares held. As a result
of the completion of the rights issue on 23 July 2009,
2,186,000,929 new shares will be issued on 28 July
2009. The estimated net proceeds of the rights issue was
approximately HK$172 million.

Apart from the above, there was no change in the share
capital structure of the Company during the year under
review.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries

During the year under review, there was no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries occurred.

Charges on Group’s Assets

As at 31 March 2009 and 2008, the Group did not have
any loan from investment brokers. Accordingly, none of
the Group’s trading securities had been pledged to the
investment broker as at the balance sheet date.
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Human Resources

As at 31 March 2009, the Group had 34 full time
employees.

The Group remunerated its employees mainly based on
the individual's performance and experience. Apart from
the basic remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
option may be granted to eligible employees by reference
to the Group’s performance as well as individual’s
performance.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERGSEEEAERBE

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Mr Henry J. BEHNKE lIl, aged 49, was appointed as a
Chairman and non-executive director of the Company
on 10 September 2007. Mr Behnke is the leader in
Terra Solar’s Kiss a-Si Platform (“KASIP”). The KASIP
combines the valuable intellectual property that Terra
Solar have built and accumulated for many years. Being
a 25 years veteran and the Chief Operating Officer of
Terra Solar Group, the subsidiary of China Solar Energy
Holdings Limited, Mr Behnke has participated in the
development, testing and installation of equipment used
in the manufacturing of amorphous silicon photovoltaic
solar cells for over 25 years. He supervised the installation
of turnkey manufacturing facilities on location in Port
Jervis, NY, Bridgend, Wales (UK) and Lens, France. His
responsibilities with Terra Solar Group focused on the
management of installation operations for PV systems,
facility management for manufacturing and R&D process
development operations. His professional qualifications
include AIChE (American Institute of Chemical Engineers),
ASAE (The Society for Engineering in Agriculture, Food
and Biological Systems), ASTM (American Society for
Testing and Materials), and ISA (The Instrumentation,
Systems and Automation Society). He holds an Executive
MBA from the Graduate School of Management of Rutgers
University in 1994, a Professional Engineering License
NJ Mechanical Engineering #32029 in 1986, and a BS
Engineering from the College of Engineering of Rutgers
University in 1981.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Pierre SELIGMAN, aged 43, joined the Group as an
executive director on 7 February 2005 and was appointed
as Managing Director in 2006. He holds a Bachelors degree
in French Literature and a textile degree in knitwear from
the University of Leeds in the United Kingdom. He has
more than 15 years of experience in local and overseas
trading business working as a senior executive.

Mr CHAN Wai Kwong Peter, aged 56, was appointed
as an executive director on 8 April 2002. He graduated
with a bachelor degree in Social Science (Economics)
from the University of Western Ontario, Canada in 1978.
Mr Chan has over 24 years of experience in marketing
and business development. Mr Chan is also an executive
director of Mobile Telecom Network (Holdings) Limited,
an independent non-executive director of China Golden
Development Holdings Limited and was formerly an
independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises
Water Group Limited, all of them are listed companies in
Hong Kong. Mr Chan is a member of the Amusement Game
Centre Appeal Board, The Government of “HKSAR”.

Mr ON Kien Quoc, aged 49, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 10 September 2007.
Mr On is a Certified Commercial Investment Member of
the CCIM Institute in the United States of America. Mr
On has extensive experience in the field of corporate
strategy, marketing solutions and business development
and he is the business development manager of Evergreen
Equity Investment, LLC, an investment consultancy
company based in the United States of America. Mr
On has been the independent non-executive director of
REXCAPITAL Financial Holdings Limited for the period
from 14 September 2004 to 17 April 2007.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr YIN Tat Man, aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director and a member of the Company’s
audit committee on 30 September 2004. He holds a
Bachelor of Science degree from University of Toronto
in Canada. He is a professional business executive with
over 20 years of experience in the information technology
industry specializing in the field of project management,
risk management and channel management. Currently,
Mr Yin is an IT director of an international IT and system
technology company based in Shanghai.

Mr TAM Kam Biu William, aged 53, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director and a member of
the Company’s audit committee on 24 January 2006. He
obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration degree
and a Master of Business Administration degree from York
University, Toronto, Canada. He is a fellow of Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom and
an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr Tam is currently a director and chief
financial officer of Bio Cassava Technology Holdings
Limited and an independent non-executive director of
Soluteck Holdings Limited, both are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr Tam is also currently a non-executive director
of ViaGold Capital Limited which is listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange.
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Mr Choi Shek Chau, aged 51,
Zheng TV Production Company Limited (Liaoning Province)
(“Feng Zheng TV") (EE& HIEERAF RIEBRAF]) and
Bo Hai Group Company Limited (Liaoning province) (“Bo
Hai Group”) (EZE&ESXEAFRAF]). Mr Choi studied
Chinese literature & history from the University of Macau.
Mr Choi has extensive experience in China Trade. In 1990,
Mr Choi established the Fang Zheng TV, and developed

successful business via setting up a joint venture with

is the founder of Fang

the local TV production house in producing various arts
programs. In 1993, his Hong Kong based company and the
Liaoning province established the Bo Hai Group to perform
the real estate investment and development projects.
Mr Choi has earned over 15 years of solid business
experience from such investment in real estate in China.
Mr Choi is currently an independent non-executive director
of Opes Asia Development Limited, a company listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr TSANG Wai Wa, aged 48, Company Secretary of
the Group, joined the Group in April 2005 as Group
Financial Controller as well as Company Secretary of the
Group. In April 2009, Mr Tsang was designated to solely
concentrate on the Group’s company secretary affairs. Mr
Tsang holds a Bachelor degree in Finance and Accounting
and a Master degree in Business Administration. He is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has extensive
experience in auditing, accounting, company secretary and
corporate finance experience.

Mr WONG Shiu Wah Williamson, aged 48, Financial
Controller of the Group, joined the Group in April 2009. Mr
Wong holds a Master degree in Business Administration
and also a Master of Science degree in Information
Systems. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He has extensive
experience in auditing, accounting, corporate finance and
operations management.
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Dr Steve T CHEN, aged 51, Corporate Strategist of the
Group, graduated from Taipei’s National Taiwan University
with LL.B degree and earned his Ph.D. degree in Law from
the University of London. He is well experienced in the
fields of legal affairs, market development, and corporate
strategies in Greater China, with previous senior executive
appointments including CNT Groups Ltd. (a listed company
in Hong Kong), and Taipei’'s Taiwan Cement Group Ltd.
(the largest cement manufacturing company listed in
Taiwan). Dr Chen is a respected commentator and writer
for national economic and legal affairs. Dr Chen had served
as Secretary General for Taiwan Business Association
(Hong Kong) Ltd. and Director for the Association of
Chinese Traders and he is currently a counselor for
Taipei City Government and Director for Taiwan Business
Association (Hong Kong). Dr Chen joined the Group in
March 2006.

Dr Yuan LEE, aged 58, CEO of the TerraSolar Group,
joined TerraSolar at the end of 2004 as the Group’s CEO.
Previously, he was an Executive Director at Morgan Stanley
Investment Banking Division. Prior to that Dr Lee worked
as a Marketing Director at Reuters America and was in
charge of new business development of analytic financial
information products targeting Wall Street firms. He also
spent nine years at Citicorp where he was responsible for
product management, relationship management, marketing
strategy and new product development. Dr Lee earned a
Ph.D. in physics from Columbia University.

Mr Gregory KISS, aged 51, Director of TerraSolar Group,
is also the Founder and Principal of Kiss + Cathcart,
Architects. He earned a Master of Architecture from
Columbia University in 1983 and a Bachelor of Arts from
Yale University in 1979. His selected architecture and
research projects on Building Integrated Photovoltaic
includes: New York City Transit Stillwell Avenue Terminal
(Brooklyn, NY: 1999-2007), Smithsonian Tropical Research
Institute (Bocas del Toro, Panama: 2001-2003), Heliodomi
Photovoltaic Production Facility, Thessalonika (Greece:
2000-2007), lJsselstein Housing (Holland: 1999-2000),
3 Studies for the National Renewable Energy Laboratory
(1992-1995), Self sustaining HighRise Buildings: National
Science Foundation Grant based on 2020 tower project
(2006-2007).
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CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

Chairman and Managing Director

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director
are segregated and assumed by two separate
individuals who have no relationship with each other
to strike a balance of power and authority so that
the job responsibilities are not concentrated on any
one individual.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for taking
lead of effective running of the Board.

The Managing Director is delegated with the
authorities to manage the Group’s business in all
aspects effectively, implement major strategies,
make day-to day decision and coordinate overall
business operation.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for the management of the
business and affairs of the Group with the objective
of enhancing shareholder value and prospects
in the annual and interim reports, and of other
price-sensitive announcements and other financial
disclosures as required under the Listing Rules, and
reports to regulators any information required to be
disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

Management is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group under the leadership of the
Managing Director. The Managing Director, working
with the other executive directors and the executive
management team of each business division, is
responsible for managing the business of the Group,
including implementation of strategies adopted by
the Board and assuming full accountability to the
Board for operations of the Group. All executive
directors have made full and active contribution to
the affairs of the Board and the Board always acts
in the best interests of the Group.

China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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3. REGULAR BOARD MEETINGS 3. EHfEE=Eg=
The Board meets at least four times each year and Exerz)0FERANREERE 5B
has a formal schedule of matters referred to it for FRZER BHEHZERRRE - B
consideration and decision. Additional meetings EEER DT\?-;.?E I N@% - ghE
may be convened as and when necessary. Notice EerTHiesms  2REEYER
of at least fourteen days is served for regular Board ROTMBEEAN MAABEEMES
meetings and reasonable notice is given for all SeEMS @5 EN &
other Board meetings. Directors are consulted and EEFANERENETEEZTR
provided with an opportunity to include matters into EREEHIEREEE - A WERE
the agenda for discussion at the Board meetings. IR/ ERREEEEREETER
The Company Secretary assists the Chairman/ R RBERFEEHeE2ER
Managing Director in preparing the agenda for FAIRHETE - RBATEZEZEERE
each Board meeting and to ensure that applicable FevfHtaensgszeeszsz ) =HA
rules and regulations regarding the meetings are DIKTESE o
observed. The final agenda together with the Board
papers are distributed to the Directors at least three
days before the Board meetings.
During the year, five board meetings, including RBE_FTTENF=A=1+T—HIF
two regular full board meetings, two remuneration ERRITHAAEETTEH BREMNX
committee meetings and two audit committee FTHEREZSLE  MATMWNES
meetings were held during the year ended 31 March EEBEMMABZLEESYE -
20009.
Individual attendance of each of the directors is set BESZHEMNEFEEEIINAT -
out below:
Meetings attended/Eligible to attend
ZHESRENY SERLEERRY
Board Audit Remuneration
meetings committee committee
Directors EE EZ88E BENZEE8EE FMZEeeE
Executive directors HITEE - -
Mr Pierre Seligman Pierre Seligman’z £ 5/5 N/A i N/A i
Mr Chu Chik Ming Jack FEBLE
(resigned on 22 December 2008) (RZBRNETZAZTZHE) 4/5 N/A i 11
Mr Chan Wai Kwong Peter BAELLE 5/5 N/A T iE 111
Mr On Kien Quoc On Kien Quoct 4 5/5 N/A TE N/A TE
Non-executive director FHTEE - -
Henry J. Behnke Il Henry J. Behnke |l 2/5 N/A RNEH N/A FEF
Independent non-executive directors ?E?”I HHNTEE
Mr Chow Siu Ngor 2N E%i
(retired on 23 September 2008) (RZBRNENAZT=BEM) 3/3 17 11
Mr Yin Tat Man REXEE 313 212 212
Mr Tam Kam Biu, William BREEE 313 212 N/A T iEH
Mr Choi Shek Chau ﬁf%ﬂl\%i

(appointed on 23 December 2008)  (R-ZENF+_A-+=HEZT) N/A T N/A T 0N
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Each Committee has its own defined scope of duties

and terms of reference. The Company Secretary

shall make available the terms of reference of

the committees to any shareholder upon receipt

of a request in writing from the shareholder. The

members of a committee are empowered to make

decisions on matters within the terms of reference

of such committee. Copies of all signed minutes

of the committees are sent to Directors for their

record.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises
three members, all of whom are independent
non-executive directors, namely, Mr Yin Tat
Man, Mr Tam Kam Biu William and Mr Choi
Shek Chau.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee
include review of the effectiveness of
financial reporting processes and internal
control systems of the Group, review of the
Group’s financial information and compliance,
marking recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and removal of external
auditors and assessing their independence
and performance.

During the year, the works performed by
Audit Committee were mainly set out below:

- reviewed the interim results for the

period ended 30 September 2008 and
annual results for the ended 31 March
2009 of the Group.

China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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- discussed with the management of
the Company over the fairness and
adequate accounting standards and
policies of the Group in the preparation
of the interim and annual financial
statements.

- reviewed the connected transactions
entered into by the Group during the
year.

- reviewed and discussed with the
external auditors over the financial
reporting of the Company.

- reviewed, recommended and approved
the retirement and re-appointment of
external auditors.

- reviewed, recommended and approved
the remuneration of external auditors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established
by the Company on 20 December 2005. In
accordance with the requirements of the
Code on CGP, the Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, one
executive director, namely, Mr Chan Wai
Kwong Peter and two independent non-
executive directors, namely, Mr Yin Tat Man
and Mr Choi Shek Chau.

The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on the Group’s policy and structure
for the overall remuneration of directors and
management, including the policy of granting
of share options to employees under the
Company’s share option scheme.
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C. Nomination Committee

The Company has not established any
nomination committee and would not consider
establishing a nomination committee owing to
the small size of the Board. The appointment
of a new director is a collective decision of the
Board, taking into consideration the expertise,
experience, integrity and commitment of that
appointee to the relevant principal division,
the Company and the Group.

Every newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
of the first occasion of his appointment.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmastu, the auditors
of the Company, acknowledge their reporting
responsibilities in the auditors’ report on the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2009.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The fees paid/payable to the Group’s external
auditors for audit service for the year ended 31
March 2009 was total to HK$1,800,000.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set
out in Appendix 10 of The Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors (the “Model Code”). All Directors
have confirmed, following a specific enquiry by the
Company, that they have fully complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code
during the year.

China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s
internal control systems and through the Audit
Committee, conducts reviews on the effectiveness
of these systems at least annually, covering all
material controls, financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions.
The process used in reviewing the effectiveness of
these internal control systems includes discussion
with management on risk areas identified by
management. The purpose of the Company’s
internal control is to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure in operational systems so that the Company’s

objectives can be achieved.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain a high
level of transparency in communicating with
shareholders. Extensive information of the Group’s
activities, business strategies and developments
is provided, in additions to the Company’s
annual reports and interim reports, in our website
“www.chinasolar-energy.com”. Shareholders
of the Company are encouraged to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company which
offers a valuable forum for dialogue and interaction
with management. The Chairman of the Board
and the chairman of the Audit Committee, or in
their absence, another member of the relevant
committee, are available at the annual general
meeting to answer questions from shareholders on

the business of the Group.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) submit
herewith their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of
the subsidiaries are set out in note 43 to the financial
statements.

The analyzes of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the Group during the financial
year are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2009 are set out in the consolidated income statement
on page 39.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2009
(2008: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 19 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2009, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders was HK$315,625,000 (2008:
HK$455,421,000) which represented the net balance of
contributed surplus of approximately HK$596,248,000
(2008: HK$596,248,000), general reserves of approximately
HK$984,142,000 (2008: HK$984,142,000) and
accumulated losses of approximately HK$1,264,765,000
(2008: HK$1,124,969,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, turnover attributable to the
Group’s one major customer accounted for 86.9% of the
total turnover for the year.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to
the Group’s one major supplier was accounted for the
Group’s 99.2% of the total purchase for the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date
of this report were:

Chairman and non-executive director
Henry J. Behnke Il
Executive Directors
Pierre Seligman
Chu Chik Ming Jack
(resigned on 22 December 2008)

Chan Wai Kwong Peter
On Kien Quoc
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Chow Siu Ngor
(retired on 23 September 2008)
Yin Tat Man
Tam Kam Biu William
Choi Shek Chau
(appointed on 23 December 2008)

In accordance with bye-law 88 of the Company’s bye-
laws, Mr Pierre Seligman and Mr Yin Tat Man shall retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. In accordance
with bye-law 86(2), Mr Choi Shek Chau shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, being eligible, offer
himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election and re-appointment
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, its fellow subsidiaries or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, in which a Director had a
material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2009, the interests or short positions of
the Directors and chief executives and their associates
in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”) or
as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) were
as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each (the “Shares”) in the Company

EERFIETHRAEBZE SRR

RZZBZNF=ZA=1—8 EFENAQF
TETBRABRBEEFEZBEATRARRZ
B BB RBEARRRIRERZ MBI
B (TR LB IED ) £362(6AFE 2%
MAZEDEIORE - SRE LT RARESE
TEFXZNFRESTA (BETR]) EX
SARANBEMERSMBRAR ([BX
Frl) 2 gsmsokamh

REAQXFASREEIBLERER (K
) 2HE

Number of Percentage of issued
Name of Director Shares Type of interest share capital
EEpR R & E RS ER ERITRABIL
Pierre Seligman (“Mr Seligman”) 34,700,000 Beneficial 0.79%
Pierre Seligman ([ Seligman’t 4 |) (Note a) o
(MfzTa)
Chan Wai Kwong Peter (“Mr Chan”) 500,000 Beneficial 0.011%
P& ([BREAED) (Note b) B
(KfiEEb)
Notes: MaE -
a. Mr Seligman is beneficially interested in 34,700,000 shares. Among a. Seligman’t 4 & z # £34,700,000/% % 5 #

those shares, 24,700,000 were share options granted by the Company
and 10,000,000 shares are the shares of the Company.

b. Mr Chan is beneficially interested in 500,000 shares of the
Company.

HeRZEROFI AR BREZHBREMN
24,700,0008% * A2 &2 %1915 10,000,0007% °

b. [R5 £ B A A2 R)500,000 A 15 2 ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of
the Directors or chief executives, nor their associates, had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

SHARE OPTIONS

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
share option scheme adopted by the Company on 29 July
2002 (the “Scheme”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to employees, executives or officers of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and other persons
who have made a contribution to the Group as incentives
and/or rewards for their contributions to the Company or
its subsidiaries.

According to the Scheme, the Board may grant options
to the eligible participants as defined in the Scheme to
subscribe for such number of shares as the Board may
determine. Options granted should be accepted within
30 days from the date of offer. Upon acceptance of the
options, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company by
way of consideration for the grant.

The exercise price of options shall be determined by
the Board, save that such price will not be less than the
highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; (b) the average
of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; or (c) the
nominal value of a share.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company on the date of approval and
adoption of the Scheme provided that the Company may
at any time seek approval from its shareholders to refresh
the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of
approval by the shareholders in general meeting where
such limit is refreshed. Options previously granted under
any share option schemes of the Company (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with
such schemes or exercised options) will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the limit as refreshed.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (including exercised and outstanding options) to
each eligible participant in any 12-month period up to the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
as at the date of grant. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive Directors or
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital
on the date of grant or with a value in excess of HK$5
million must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

The period during which an option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save
that no options can be exercised more than 10 years after
it has been granted. There is no general requirement that
an option must be held for any minimum period before
it can be exercised. The Scheme will expire on 29 July
2012.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the
Scheme was 539,917,006 Shares (representing 8.24% of
the Shares in issue as at the date of this report).

RTTEREZAT 8] M AR RHEA] H Al BB A A
AHERL 2 ARBREN A BT 2RO A
ER - TNEEBHERRAZTEIE AR
AR BEITIRAZ10% @ HEAR LD F) A BEREOR
HECRAAE S EREHETE RRRRERK
SrHESHETLRERZERETRNZ
10% ° At EEHETE < ERE - SERIREAR
REMER BRI 2 B E (BHER
EREFSIHARITE - B - 2RMEE
TEZERE) TetEER -

REBEEREEREBHZAIEAI1I2EAR
HITHFE S A ER2EEREZTERAQF
T E MR 2ER ZBRE (BHEE
TERKRITECERE) MEBTRATER
FERITZBRHBE  TEBARTLERES
BZBBTRMNZ1% ° fHE X EA R IB
UHPTESHEESAZHEBEAL (EE
REWRA) BREBAARARRKELBEHY
BT A 20.1% 3k B E 8 115,000,000/%
TLZ BERRE - BIZESCEE AR R R BLAE o

BRETENRAESS2RET - EBK
RN B I B B S im 105 R B AN AT 17
{8 o ANR AR TETTE AT A5 BT B I A A
ZEEHR o ZAtERBR T ——F LA
+ThBER -

BREZAE T FRHRTZRODBE A
539,917,006/% ({f A AR E HHIBE 217K
9 28.24%) °
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The movements in share options granted under the RAFERBZTEIFMELBERE 2 EEH0M
Scheme during the year are shown below: Nk
Date of
At Granted  Exercised Lapsed At offer to Exercise
Name/Category of 1 April during during during 31 March  grant price per
participant 2008 the year the year the year 2009  options share Exercisable period
R-BENE RZBENE  BRE
sEERE /85 mE-H FRRY ERfTE ER&Y ZA=+t-B REBH BRORE ATHE
(HKS)
(&)

Directors £

Pierre Seligman 23,100,000 - - - 23,100,000  25/11/2004 0.088  20/1212004 - 19/12/2014
1,600,000 - - - 1,600,000  22/6/2005 0.166  27/6/2005 - 26/6/2015

Employees /E 8 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000  22/6/2005 0.166  27/6/2005 — 26/6/2015
19,700,000 - - - 19,700,000  4/9/2007 0.566 3/10/2007 - 2/10/2017

Directors and employees of 30,000,000 - - — 30,000,000  4/9/2007 0.566  3/10/2007 - 2/10/2017

the associate

BENRESRER

Consultants 16,117,006 - - - 16,117,006  22/12/2003 0.160  2/1/2004 - 1/1/2014

L 23,100,000 - - - 23,100,000  25/11/2004 0.088  20/1212004 — 19/12/2014
99,000,000 - - - 99,000,000 22/6/2005 0.166  20/7/2005 - 19/7/2015
326,300,000 - - - 326,300,000  4/9/2007 0.566  3/10/2007 — 2/10/2017
539,917,006 - - - 539,917,006

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES WK EEZEZZHE

OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was Br EXCRTIERE SN 0 AR IR QA -

the Company, its holding company, its fellow subsidiaries EREENBARSETMAITE AT RFERN

or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to FAESEMmLKEENTH BE8ESED

enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the ERE A RN B SR B A B 2 B 3R (& E

acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company BMER °

or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules, details of
the interests held by the Directors in business which is
considered to compete or are likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, are
disclosed as follows:

Competing

Name of company business

REXCAPITAL Finance Limited (“RFL”) Money lending

RPI Finance Limited (“RPI”) Money lending

TKR Finance Limited (“TKR”)
(in liquidation)

Money lending

Mr Chan How Chung, Victor and Miss Lee Huei Lin are
the directors of these companies and the directors of
D & M Finance Limited, one of the subsidiaries of our
Group engaging in money lending business. The terms
and conditions of the financing loans of each of RFL, RPI
and TKR are market driven and agreed at arm’s length
between the borrowers and the financiers. When making
decisions on the above competing businesses, the relevant
Directors, in the performance of their duties as directors
of D & M Finance Limited, have acted and will continue to
act in the best commercial interest of the Group.

EENEFEURB R 2ES

BIE FTARBIEES.10(2)15 * EEFTHEA M
RAEEN A EAEEXRE B EHES
FEBERFBEEOT

BEM
DEEE %
HEREEBRAR ([HREE]D) =EA

HERMBER AR ([HRFH]) EEA

SEREFEMHAR AT &N
(MR EEZRE %) CF&H)

BMERELERFTER/NMNMIA LA AR ZE
= NARKBEEF—RHREERERZH
B/AFD & M Finance LimitedZ &% - fi
REE HRYBLEROFNBESEZH
BERZERREHETIRMSERITREE
BN FEERE o Bt Ll BRFERKEL
AR EHES (RBETTHRSERD & M
Finance LimitedE £ 7 B&%R) KB WidE
BERDNFEASBRERENT21TE -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

FERR

As at 31 March 2009, the interests or short positions of the

following parties in the shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company

R-ZEh&E=A=+—-8"
% B % B 1 (5 DI 5336 15 A TR B 2 4 M B
# - THIALRARDFR G 2 B2ssk

BN AR

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows: KBRWT -
Long Position in the Shares BB ZHER
Approximate
Directly Through percentage of
beneficially controlled Total issued share
owned  corporation number capital
EB HEBTREK

Name of Shareholder [ EE BERERESR REEE By BABED

Li Di (notes 1, 2) Z5 (fisx1-2) 189,690,000 704,250,000 893,940,000 20.45%

Topskill Holdings Limited Topskill Holdings

(notes 2, 3) Limited (Fiz¥2 - 3) 84,250,000 620,000,000 704,250,000 16.11%

Multichannel Investments Multichannel

Limited (note 3) Investments Limited
(P7E3) 620,000,000 - 620,000,000 14.18%

Culturecom Holdings Limited X/{tLEEEEERE A7 - 268,126,000 268,126,000 6.13%

Culturecom Holdings (BVI) Culturecom Holdings (BVI)

Limited (note 4) Limited (Kf3E4) - 268,126,000 268,126,000 6.13%

Culturecom Investments Culturecom Investments

Limited (note 4) Limited (FI3£4) 1,596,000 266,530,000 268,126,000 6.13%

Winway H.K. Investments XEBBREBRAR

Limited (note 4) (Fgx4) 266,530,000 - 266,530,000 6.10%

Notes: 5T -

1. The interest of 189,690,000 Shares includes interest in 91,740,000 1. #%189,690,000/1% [ 13 12 5 B2 7 BB 52 PiT_E T 7 £
underlying Shares in connection with derivatives listed on the Stock T AK# 291,740,000 8 R M0 2 #E 55
Exchange.

2. Topskill Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Mr Li Di and the interest 2. Topskill Holdings Limited@ &6t £2EHA -
of Topskill Holdings Limited in 704,250,000 Shares is reported as i Topskill Holdings Limited704,250,0000% %
interest of Mr Li Di through controlled corporation. @Zﬁééz#ﬁﬁ?%%iﬁ BEELAERE 2

Zm ©

3. Multichannel Investments Limited is the wholly owned subsidiary 3. Multichannel Investments Limited/&Flytech
of Flytech Holdings Limited which is wholly owned by Topskill Holdings Limitedz & & [ B 2 & + MFlytech
Holdings Limited. The interest of Multichannel Investments Limited in Holdings Limited Al A Topskill Holdings Limited
620,000,000 Shares is reported as interest of Topskill Holdings Limited % & ¥ B - Multichannel Investments Limited
through controlled corporation. #°620,000,000/% B 9 2 # = = W ATopskill

Holdings Limitedi& i@ x&xﬁ@%ﬁZT&fm
4. Culturecom Holdings (BVI) Limited is the wholly owned subsidiary of 4. Culturecom Holdings (BVI) Limited &

Culturecom Holdings Limited. Culturecom Holdings (BVI) Limited is
the intermediate holdings company of Culturecom Investments Limited
which in turn 100% holds Winway H.K. Investments Limited.
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Save as disclosed above, the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31 March
2009, the Company had not been notified of any other
person who had an interest or short position in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year under review, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any listed securities of the Company.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Company and the Group
as at 31 March 2009 are set out in note 32 and note 33 to
the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets
and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years
is set out on page 128.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

B E XTI EESN

RIRRE 7 & B 5P 5
BHREF 2 BMABER RZFTNF=
A=1—H8 ARAAEENGH T EA
AT RAR R Mty R ABRIR D B i =k

SYL AN
RSB °

BE -HEIWEEXQFA 2L
Gk

REBEFEAR  RNAF AN B A RS ER
B HESBEEEMNARRZ ETES

ARREAEER-_TTNF=A=1+—H
ZABFREF IR P B B 7 R M eE32 & MY A
33°

RFMBHRE

AEERBEREAMBFECHEEEARE
ERBEHREIIHNFE 128 -

BRRBEE
ARTZARMAKEREEGI L WA

REIARLPIFR BB REEN R ZBEER
BHERE -
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All
Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by
the Company, that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2009.

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

None of the Directors is aware of any information which
would reasonably indicate that the Company is not, or
was not, throughout the year ended 31 March 2009, in
compliance with the Code of Best Practice as previously
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules which remains
applicable to disclosure in annual reports in respect of
accounting periods, the three independent non-executive
Directors are not appointed for a specific term, but are
subject to retirement by rotation at the Company’s annual
general meeting as specified in the bye-laws of the
Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company consisted of Mr Yin
Tat Man, Mr Tam Kam Biu William and Mr Choi Shek
Chau, the three independent non-executive Directors.
The primary duties of the audit committee are to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, and the financial reporting process and internal
control system of the Group.

The financial statements have been reviewed and approved
by the audit committee.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficiency of public float
throughout the year ended 31 March 2009.
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AUDITORS

Messrs Grant Thornton resigned as auditors of the
Company on 3 June 2008, and Messrs Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu were appointed as auditors of the Company
on the even date to fill the casual vacancy so arising.
A resolution will be submitted to the annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Pierre Seligman
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 24 July 2009

BB

SEEHIBTR BB NER A= ARER
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9

Deloitte.
= 2]

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA SOLAR ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Solar Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 39 to 127, which comprise the consolidated
balance sheet as at 31 March 2009, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as
at 31 March 2009 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 July 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT & kEH &K
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

2009 2008

—EENE —ZTNF

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

B5E THET FHET

Revenue KA 7 18,475 97,668

Other income HABUA 9 638 9,593
Net (loss) gain on held-for-trading HIEEEREZ (BE)

investments Wz SRR 10 (29,310) 1,206
Costs of long-term service contracts of ¢ A EE R ARG S 49

photovoltaic business [N (12,426) (76,906)
Staff costs BT A 11 (13,690) (20,219)
Consultancy expenses B (5,927) (107,270)
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BELERETE

equipment (256) (239)
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEHH (14,058) (14,058)
Allowance for an amount due from the JEUX —ZF & A Al AR

majority shareholder of an associate FORE 23 (10,000) =
(Allowance for) reversal of bad and JRE LAY B SRR e L At R W K IE

doubtful debts ZRIBRR () #-

— trade and other receivables (47,385) 2,500
Allowance for trade deposit B o] e BE 27(i) (23,938) =
Other expenses HMAX (14,778) (19,768)
Net gain (loss) on derivative PTESR T A e

financial instruments (E18) F88 112,370 (87,230)
Share of loss of an associate DG — At E AR 2 BB (6,738) (582)
Finance costs BhE A A 12 (601) (18)
Loss before taxation B AT E 1R (47,624) (215,323)
Tax credit (expense) msEE (Fx) 13 1,130 (996)
Loss for the year FABE 14 (46,494) (216,319)
Attributable to: LR -

Equity holders of the Company RAREREFEA (44,383) (215,125)
Minority interests DERR R = (2,111) (1,194)
(46,494) (216,319)
HK cents HK cents
AL P

Loss per share BEE 18
Basic AR (0.85) (4.28)
Diluted s (0.85) (4.28)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET R85 EAER

At 31 March 2009 R-ZEZNF=H=+—H

B
ey

2009 2008
—EEAF —ZTENF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
B5E TExT FHET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB KR 19 533 752
Intangible assets B EE 20 96,059 110,117
Goodwill EES 21 36,592 17,213
Interest in an associate R—REBE ARz 22 — 6,738
Amount due from the majority fEW— B HEE AR
shareholder of an associate EOE] 23 5,911 16,517
Other receivables W&wm 27 - 10,062
139,095 161,399
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables JE W BR R 24 7,949 69,298
Loan receivables FEWE KR 25 32,949 437
Inventories rE 26 66,728 -
Deposits, prepayments and other Ze  BERIER
receivables H b FEUFRIA 27 6,219 61,155
Amount due from a shareholder JEHQ—%J&%% 28 = 6,713
Amounts due from related companies  JEUXEEE A Al FIE 28 13,224 17,264
Held-for-trading investments hﬁE%ﬁE&éﬁ 29 20,193 83,377
Tax recoverable AU B FE IR 65 —
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR MR E 30 8,003 48,639
155,330 286,883
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR K 2 EL Ath P& A<F
IE 31 15,565 28,855
Loan from a shareholder RKE—BREZER 32 14,594 —
Amounts due to shareholders FERTAR R 5RI8 28 7,597 =
Tax payable e 18 69 1,486
Borrowings BE 33 - 600
Derivative financial instruments PTESmIT A 34 427 112,797
38,252 143,738
Net current assets REEEEE 117,078 143,145
Total assets less current liabilities BEELERRDBEE 256,173 304,544
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET &4 38EAER
At 31 March 2009 R—_ZTZThFE=H=+—H

R

2009 2008
—EBETAE —TTNF
NOTES HK$°000 HK$°000
Bt aE THERT FHET
EQUITY Rz
Share capital % 7 35 43,720 43,720
Reserves fE 206,956 251,339
Equity attributable to equity holders ZAYNCIE: E e SN
of the Company M 250,676 295,059
Minority interests DVEIR RS 4,520 8,508
Share option reserve of a subsidiary — R B A &) 2 B AE
i 977 977
Total equity B 256,173 304,544
The consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 127 FIR12TE M BRREEFEN =

were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 24 July 2009 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Pierre Seligman
DIRECTOR
FE

On Kien Quoc
DIRECTOR

EF

ZENFLAZTOBEHERKERT I
B NIESERREE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY SRS ERB TR
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

e

=

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

LG 52N
Share
Share option
Share Share option Contributed ~ Warrant Accumulated Minority  reserve of Total
capital  premium reserve surplus reserve losses Total interests a subsidiary equity
-BWELE
R KaE EBRERE 2R IREERE  ZdER ait HEBRRE ZERERE Bk
HKS'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
Tin TR Thn Tk TR TR Thn Tk TR TR
(Notea) ~ (Notebh) (Note a)
(Fista)  (Ksho) (M)
At 1 April 2007 RZEZt5MA-A 38,749 775,080 18,080 596,248 16,382  (1,113926) 330,613 11,864 604 343,081
Loss for the year and total recognised  ERBERENERFRLE

expense for the year - - - - - (M5125)  (215,125) (1,194) - (216,319
Acquisition of additional interest i~ SEE-EHEAF 2E%

a subsidiary - - - - - - - (2,162) - (2,162)
Exercise of warrants fIkakER 3,757 56,206 - - (16382 - 43,581 - - 43581
Exercise of share options fkERE 1,214 26,885 (9,202) - - - 18,897 - - 18,897
Share issued expenses Ri%{IR% - 6) - - - - (6) - - 6)
Recognition of equity-settled share A ERESE RARR

based payments %HZ7E - - 17099 - - - 17099 - 73 M4
At 31 March 2008 NZZT\F=A=1-H 43720 858,165 125,977 596,248 - (1,329051) 295,059 8,508 977 304,544
Loss for the year and total recognised  £RBERENERERLE

expense for the year - - - - - (44,383) (44,383) 1) - (46,494)
Acquisition of additional interestin ~ EE-FEHEAAZER

a subsidiary - - - - - - - (1,877) - (1,877)
At 31 March 2009 RZEENE=A=T-8 43,720 858,165 125,977 506,248 - (1373434) 250,676 4,520 977 256,173
Notes: Bz :

(a) The share option reserve arises from the share-based compensation (a) i A (2 1 70 R BB SR 36 P AR X B) e — el Bt /B8
regarding the share options granted by the Company and a subsidiary DR AT 2 B8 AR 7R R AR 1 S AN 2 8 i 22
as referred to in note 36. o

(b) (i) Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 11 August 2001, (b) (i) BE-—ER-_ZZ—FNAT+—HBHBAZ

FRDRER  BETEAEMA  Epk
o3 - BEDKARBRAHSRE

a capital reorganisation was undertaken which involved share
subdivision on the basis that every issued and unissued share

of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company was divided
into two subdivided shares of HK$0.05 each and the nominal
value of each of the subdivided shares in issue was reduced
from HK$0.05 to HK$0.01 by cancelling HK$0.04 paid up
capital on each issued subdivided share. Every unissued
subdivided share of HK$0.05 each was further divided into
five new shares of HK$0.01 each. The reduction in share
capital amounted to HK$419,002,000 was credited to the
contributed surplus.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY SRS ERB TR

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

_m

(i)

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 29 July 2002, a
capital reorganisation was undertaken on 30 July 2002 to
consolidate shares on the basis that every twenty issued
and unissued shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the
Company were consolidated into one consolidated share of
HK$0.20 each. The nominal value of each of the consolidated
shares in issue was reduced from HK$0.20 to HK$0.01
by cancelling HK$0.19 paid up capital on each issued
consolidated share and the subdivision of each unissued
consolidated share of HK$0.20 each into twenty new shares of
HK$0.01 each and as a result, an amount of HK$177,246,000
was credited to the contributed surplus.

(if)

BE—HER-_ZT_FtA=-TILAEB
ZERRER W-ZEE-H#+A=+H
BHITEAEME REARFTRAFE=
TR EREME0.01B T2 BT RARET
f&n& o R —REREEC.208 T 2 &
BBz BEEETROEH - BBREERE
BITEHIRND 2 BB EAREH0.198 TR
1SS RE(E0.20/ T 2 B AR BEITE HHIR
MArFER=ZTREREME0.01E T2
R BREETE KRG ZHEEH.20
BITEIE E0.018 T Eith 0 AR A #
177,246,000 Tt ABUA R &R ©

FENBRRIZRARAF o 2009FRK



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT &8 BHE&RER

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

2009 2008
—EThE —ZZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REER
Loss before tax BREERTEE (47,624) (215,323)
Adjustments for: FHEE
Interest expenses MERZ 601 18
Interest income FEMA (28) (1,520)
Dividend income Az B A - (33)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BEREREITE
equipment 256 239
Bad debts written off 122 B 8 903 912
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEH 14,058 14,058
Share-based payment expenses LARR D 27 2 2 - 117,472
Share of loss of an associate PME— R E QR 2 B8 6,738 582
Change in fair value of derivative financial TEesmMI A AREE
instruments 2aE) (112,370) 87,230
Change in fair value of held-for-trading BEEEREZARER
investments 28 25,988 17,531
Allowance for an amount due from the U — BB A BIRARER
majority shareholder of an associate FRIE 2 Bt 10,000 —
Allowance for (reversal of) bad and REBAREE (BE)
doubtful debts 71,323 (2,500)
Operating cash flows before movements LEESEHH  KERSD
in working capital mE (30,155) 18,666
Increase in inventories FEEI (66,728) -
Decrease (increase) in held-for-trading FHEEERERL (35m)
investments 37,196 (48,601)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables FEUS AR TR (3E0) 14,634 (41,043)
Increase in loan receivables JE W & SR8 N (32,792) (437)
Decrease (increase) in deposits, prepayments &% - 81+ 7038 & E b fE Uk
and other receivables FRIER A (38N) 33,745 (23,573)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other JE 1~ BR 5% B2 EL Ath FE 5 SR8
payables ORi) &0 (13,290) 3,595
Cash used in operations REFARS (57,390) (91,393)
Interest received 2B 28 1,520
Tax (paid) refunded (B EREFIE (352) 98
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETBFARSFE
ACTIVITIES (57,714) (89,775)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT &8 BHE&RER
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

2009 2008
—EEhAE _—ZTTN\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEH
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary 3 #& — & Fff B8 A 7] 2 # 2 (11,194) (19,375)
Payments to acquire property, plant and BAYME - BE MEERRK

equipment (37) (202)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE - BERRERE

and equipment R = 116
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale HEAIHEE 2 CRIEE

financial assets FSRIA — 7,750
Investment in an associate R—REBE QR ZRE - (7,320)
Proceeds from disposal of disposal group HERIEHEE 2 HEHRSE

held for sale FRiS5/IA — 11,625
Repayment from a shareholder —ZRFERK 6,713 13,120
Repayment from (advance to) the majority — Rl & R AR IR R AE K

shareholder of an associate (B THEARIRREZ

BR) 606 (16,517)
Repayment from a minority shareholder DLEIRERIER - 420
Repayment from related companies FE N RIER - 657
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BRI T RO - 8,051
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEEBFTAR S FHE (3,912) (1,675)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEY
Interest paid BERFE (601) (18)
Advances from (repayment to) shareholders ~ —FARE 2 B
(fA—&REREER) 7,597 (15)

Loan from a shareholder m—BREREK 14,594 =
Repayments of borrowings EEEE (600) (100)
Proceeds from issue of warrants BIIRREREENIA - 25,567
Proceeds from exercise of warrants ITE R EB TS KB . 43,581
Proceeds from exercise of share options 1TEFBRERT 1S FIA - 18,897
Share issued expenses R EITHR - (6)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEBFIERSFE 20,990 87,906
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREESEYRL FE

EQUIVALENTS (40,636) (3,544)
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT R BRFENZRITERK

BEGINNING OF FINANCIAL YEAR BE 48,639 52,183
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT END R BFERZBITERR

OF FINANCIAL YEAR RE 8,003 48,639
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

F
20

1.

GENERAL

China Solar Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK”). The
addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the “Corporate Information” section to the annual
report. The Company has established a Sponsored
Level | American Depository Receipt Programme
and the trading of its American depository shares
on the over-the counter market was commenced on
29 January 2007 in the United States.

The functional currency of the Company is United
States dollars (“USD”), the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Company and
its major subsidiaries operate. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars as the directors consider that it is
an appropriate presentation for a company listed
in Hong Kong and for the convenience of the
shareholders of the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) are mainly engaged in the following
activities:

- development, manufacturing, marketing and
sale of photovoltaic solar cells, modules and
panels for generating solar electric power
and related training and consulting services
(“photovoltaic business”)

- provision of capital market advisory services

- participation in primary and secondary
securities market

- money lending

China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments and interpretations (“new
HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are
or have become effective.

2,

PRI REIERT B R
ﬁ%ﬁﬁu ((EEHBREE
/\I

RAFEE  AEEEAATHELSS
A ag ([BEGREAE]) B
ZEFTERZE ((HEBEM B REE
A1) 2MHRAELER -

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of A SR SRNEEZ
(Amendments) financial assets $395% % EHH8E
BAMBEEWE
AERIETR
(&1&3T)
HK(IFRIC) — INT 12 Service concession EE (BRI &R & PRIR 4% & e
arrangements SREZTEe)— ZHE
ZREE125
HK(IFRIC) — INT 14 HKAS 19 — The limit on E& (BRI SR E 52t 24q]
a defined benefit ZREFES)— 51988 —
asset, minimum HEF 145 FERA
funding requirements BEY
and their interaction PR &l FIK
ME 2 B E)
[ERES

The adoption of these new HKFRSs had no material
effect on how the results and financial position for
the current or prior accounting periods have been
prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior year
adjustment has been required.

The Group has not early applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations that have been issued but are not
yet effective.

RN LT BB 2 R
AREBERANEG BRSBTS A
ZEBNMBRR 2 RMER 2577
BREAERNTE - Fit - BAEL
BEFERE -

7 5 [ 4 42 B AR A T E AR 18 14
KR 2 BT R AB(E AT R - EETH
2

HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs' BBV BRELEL BEYBRE
(Amendments) (&1&37T) YRl 2 B
HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs EBMBHELER —ETNEEFSB
(Amendments) 20092 (#&{E3]) B 75 5 22 A

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of financial 2 AU
statements? BEAGETE MBmER 225
AIZE15% (K1E37T)
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing costs® BB LR BB A3
2357 (ZIER])
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate EB AR Ve VA

financial statements*

275 (KIER])  MH@mK
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HEZE—ZTZTNF=-A=-+—HILFE

F
20

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL

FERFTE] AR B R UK
BEER ([BEUBREE

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Al ) (&)

(Continued)
HKAS 32 &1 Puttable financial instruments EB 2R hESRTA
(Amendments) and obligations arising on F3258 N E15E NS RERS
liquidation? (#&1&35]) EEXZEM
HKAS 39 Eligible hedged items* E = AR IR
(Amendment) 3958 (K&1&7])
HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an investment in a E 5 B Sy & AE R — BB AT
(Amendments) subsidiary, jointly controlled %1%ﬁ&§5%§;§+ 3 [7] 42 %\Jgﬁj‘f
entity or associate® R F 2758 5?@.—:’& AR E
(F1&37) ZKAR3
HKFRS 2 Vesting conditions and E/ ﬁﬂ&# EH  BERGR
(Amendment) cancellations? F25% (K&{E3]) aEiye
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations* %x%ﬁﬁki R EBEH
35 (KE7])
HKFRS 7 Improving disclosures about %C/%Eﬁki ER| HEFAETH
(Amendment) financial instruments® BT (LE3]) THZ#ER
HKFRS 8 Operating segments? BEMBMELR ZEBoks
85
HK(IFRIC) — INT 9 Embedded derivatives® B8 (BRI ®R B|AXSTETAS
& HKAS 39 TREZEY)
(Amendments) — REFR K
AR £
F395% (KE3T)
HK(IFRIC) — INT 13 Customer loyalty programmes® %° (BEIfREi5E &P B HE TSl
i%ié,\ = )
— BEFE13%
HK(IFRIC) = INT 15 Agreements for the 55 (AR BHR AHRERFEME
construction of real estate? EREZET) Z &
ui*m hk15’iﬁ
HK(IFRIC) - INT 16 Hedges of a net investment in BE (BRI ®R BN ERTF
a foreign operation’ EREZEY) KEZEH
— ZEE16%
HK(IFRIC) - INT 17 Distributions of non-cash F% (BRFBHR RAEFADIKIER
assets to owners* EREZET) TEE!
— REE1THR
HK(IFRIC) — INT 18 Transfers of assets from B8 (BRI R REFEBREE?

customers?®
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

1 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009 except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

2 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009, 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as
appropriate.

3 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009.

4 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July
20009.

5 Effective for accounting periods ending on or after 30 June
2009.

6 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 July
2008.

7 Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
October 2008.

8 Effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009.

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect
the Group’s accounting for business combination
for which the acquisition date is on or after 1
April 2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the
accounting treatment for changes in the Group’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary. The directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of the
other new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.

2,

FE A # 5] R &R1E R BB BT 7§
WEER ([ERAMBREE
Al ) &)

g RZZETNF—A— B2 BABRZE:T
BRI AE K - ME BB ISR ERIFE55 (4
B:]) RZZEZENF LA —HkZ2ERAR

ST HAR AR ©

2 RZZEZTNhF—A—H ZZEFTNFtA
—ARZE—TF-—A Bk zEFABZ
SEFERRE A K (fHEA) ©

9 RZZEZNF—A— B2 ERABR ST
AR AR ©

= REZZEThFLtA—ARZEABZ G
EARF AR ©

9 R-ETNENAZTARZBREE S
sTHAR AR -

8 R-ZZEENFLtA—ARZEMABZ Gt
AR AR ©

g REZZEENF+A—BRz2EBABZ Gt
EARS AR ©

g R-ZEThELA BB IEREREE
B o

RANE B M5 |G ERF3IR (KE
) AREREWB RPN —_T—TF
MA—HSEREZARERBEHZ
SRt HE - BAGRTER 27 (&
(ER]) B ERAEERKB AR 2%
BRZESHZENRIENE - NATF
EXTRY EREMINAT REERTE
RN CHIDSEES =3 SRR St 1 pd 3
BRI BIRRNEREMEAFE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

F
20

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
certain financial instruments, which are measured
at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the SEHK and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control
is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,
as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the
Group’s equity therein. Minority interests in the net
assets consist of the amount of those interests at
the date of the original business combination and
the minority’s share of changes in equity since
the date of the combination. Losses applicable to
the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in
the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the
interests of the Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make
an additional investment to cover the losses.

Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries are
recorded at carrying amounts and the excess of the
cost of acquisition over the carrying amounts of net
assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

Business combinations

The acquisition of business is accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree,
plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the
conditions for recognition under HKFRS 3 Business
combinations are recognised at their fair values at
the acquisition date.

3.

FESFBER ®)

RERBEEE (HF)

HEMBAREEFETZIEBR
BoEAKE ORI - BE
FEFZIEBRRESEERZSERS
REBHRBEHER Z2BELBAH
BEER < DB RELHESES -
LEBBEREEZEBREZRDBRE

KB QA s FEE R - RIBIE
EARAKE D EPBBRAOR

B ERBEIERIMIENERFZ
FEIRRRON ©

BB ARERARBEAR M
WERASRMKREFEEZRAE
ZHEAERAEE

EBE

EHBWBRABEREAALRK - Wi
RARRZEBRRTZEE - TE
EHAEZBEINMANEE BRI
WERB 2 EHIEMBITIRATA
ZEZAABE ZNEBAHER
FE1h 2 ERIKAF & - PR F 2
AHEMNEE BEMKARABENA
BREMBRELEFIREH A28
RN MUK E R 22 n BERE

o
o

FENBRRIZRARAF o 2009FRK
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as
an asset and initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the cost of the business combination
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree
is initially measured at the minority’s proportion
of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the relevant business at the date of
acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on acquisition of
business or additional interest in a business is
presented separately in the consolidated balance
sheet.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HEZE—ZTTNF=-A=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from an acquisition is allocated to each of
the relevant cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the
other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement. An impairment
loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-
generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill
capitalised is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the investor has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor an interest in a joint venture.

The result and assets and liabilities of associate
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, investment in an associate
is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost
as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the
Group’s share of the net assets of the associate,
less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. An additional share of losses is provided
for and a liability is recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that
associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets,
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,

liabilities and

after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss. Where a group entity transacts with
an associate of the Group, profits and losses are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the relevant associate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HEZE—ZTTNF=-A=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivables for services provided in the
normal course of business, net of discount.

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that
economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, on the following basis:

(i) Fees from financial advisory services
including investment advisory fee, referral
fee and placement fee are recognised when
the relevant services are rendered.

(ii) Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

(ili) Revenue from long-term service contracts in
respect of photovoltaic business is recognised
according to the percentage of completion
of individual contract at the balance sheet
date.

(iv) Income from secondment services is
recognised when the relevant services are
rendered.

(v)  Dividend income is recognised when the right
to receive payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Long-term service contracts

Where the outcome of a long-term service contract
can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are
recognised by reference to the stage of completion
of the contract activity at the balance sheet date,
as measured by the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date bear to the
estimated total contract costs. Variations in contract
work, claims and incentive payments are included
to the extent that they have been agreed with the
customer.

Where the outcome of a long-term service contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred
that it is probable that will be recoverable. Contract
costs are recognised as expenses in the period in
which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will
exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses exceed
progress billings,
amount due from customers for contract work. For

the surplus is shown as an

contracts where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is shown as an
amount due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are
included in the consolidated balance sheet, as a
liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for
work performed but not yet paid by the customer are
included in the consolidated balance sheet under
trade receivables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HEZE—ZTTNF=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account
their estimated residual value, using the straight-
line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which
the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are identified and recognised separately from
goodwill where they satisfy the definition of an
intangible asset and their fair values can be
measured reliably. The cost of such intangible
assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
(see the accounting policy in respect of impairment
losses on tangible and intangible assets below).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment losses on tangible and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in,
first-out method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EESITHEHE &)

(Continued)

Leasing HE

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever NBAYIGEREHEEERRAREZBX
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the WoE R A SEEN AR A ZA
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All 4 VEEARMERLY - FrAEMIAE
other leases are classified as operating leases. N e ARETHL o

The Group as lessee AEBERABA

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged KEHAZENEeRERAHEESRR
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the UNESERBRER NG - (EARE
term of the relevant lease. Benefits received TN AR T A 2 B U K B W R 2R IR R
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an HEHANNBESEIERASEERAIH
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of B ©

rental expense over the lease term on a straight-

line basis.

Foreign currencies I

In preparing the financial statements of each RimESHEER SR ARz BmEK
individual group entity, transactions in currencies B WX SR EEEAEHE AR 21
other than the functional currency of that entity EEEMANE (INEE) - BILAEINRE EHE
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective (AR RREER 7 TERBEIRER
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary BzEE) x5 H @A EXRK
economic environment in which the entity operates) HAR RE&EER - INBEHEZ
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates EIE R A EHE A EXRTHHK
of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, o PMINEAEIT AR R AARZ
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies JEEMIEE B T2 EHHE o

are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement REERENHREEKIEEMEAZ
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of R ERNELPRTEREANER -

monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
as a separate component of equity (the translation
reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised and included in
finance costs in the consolidated income statement
in the period in which they are incurred.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the year in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development expenditure is recognised only if it is
anticipated that the development costs incurred on
a clearly-defined project will be recovered through
future commercial activity. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HEZE—ZTTNF=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and state-managed retirement benefit scheme
are charged as expenses when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Equity-settled share-based payment

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted
at the grant date is recognised as an expense in full
at the grant date when the share options granted
vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share option reserve).

For those share options granted which were not
vest immediately, the fair value of services received
determined by reference to the fair value of share
options granted at the grant date is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of
the estimates during the vesting period, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

FESFBER ®)

(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
(Continued)

Share options granted to other share option
scheme participants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or
services are measured at the fair values of the goods
or services received, unless that fair value cannot
be reliably measured, in which case the goods or
services received are measured by reference to
the fair value of the share options granted. The
fair values of the goods or services received are
recognised as expenses immediately, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
Corresponding adjustment has been made to equity
(share option reserve).

Shares issued to vendors

Share issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably
measured, in which case the goods or services
received are measured by reference to the fair value
of the share issued. The fair values of the goods
or services received are recognised as expenses
immediately, unless the goods or services qualify
for recognition as assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HEZE—ZTTNF=-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reported in the consolidated income statement
because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years, and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the year when the liability
is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is
charged or credited to the consolidated income
statement, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised on the consolidated balance sheet when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as

appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into two
categories, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and receivables.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL of the Group are financial
assets held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near future; or

. it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

3.

FESFBER (®)

EMIA (&)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss UL BEIAEZRRZ & E
(Continued) (#&)

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial assets.

RNFERR 2 ZHEER AR E
BIABRfkcEREENRAAE
BitE MARBEZESIRESL
HEEERBRRER - NMEnRE
RZWBHERFEINBRENERBE
ERIRZ BB HAE o

Loans and receivables EFREN T TE
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial ExERNRBEANEBEENKEE

assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. At each balance

R IEFT e REARE  MEEER
S WIE - RS ERE S

sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, ,ZE.E# f%*’ﬁ)}z)‘&‘qﬁz IR (B35 FE
loans and receivables (including trade and other TNREMEWIE - e EWRE
receivables, deposits, loan receivables, amount due - FEW — %J]Xﬁ IE FE U — 22 B

from a shareholder, amount due from the majority BT ANRRERNIE - EWREE ST

shareholder of an associate, amounts due from
related companies and bank balances and cash) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those FVTPL, are
assessed for indicators of impairment at each

3.
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balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired BR - (HEREZIEBRAR o0&
where there is objective evidence that, as a result EZBEARESRER —IEK %18

of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been

RNFEREMEERBEEZSMHM
XEFE AeREELTRE -

impacted.
For loans and receivables, objective evidence of MEFLERFIEmNS » BEZBE
impairment could include: BIEBE -

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or e BITAIRZEFHBEEKRH
counterparty; or IR EE 3%

. default or delinquency in interest or principal o REEB S S B (E & T B 5t AN
payments; or % Bk

C it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets such
as trade receivables, assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are subsequently
assessed for impairment in a collective basis.

o EFAH AJ AL M bR B EE 3 B A
B4 -

EWERESE TEREERRNM
5 BRI A TERECEENE
BRAREERELEITRER G o BURFK
BHEAZEEREZBEERAEER

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio TR &8 - RIOKREEHEEH
of receivables could include the Group’s past B IREIE AN - 2 [ Bk AN Hh £ 7 A
experience of collecting payments, an increase in IR/ S EIN R IE A RS 2 ] B &
the number of delayed payments beyond the credit &f) o

period of 90 days, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default
on receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost,
an impairment loss is recognised in consolidated
income statement when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is measured at the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is
reduced by the impairment loss directly for all
financial assets with the exception of trade and
other receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in consolidated income
statement. When trade and other receivables are
considered uncollectible, they are written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to
consolidated income statement.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through consolidated
income statement to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R & Kis

For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HEZE—ZTTNF=-A=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued
by a group entity are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial
liabilities are generally classified into financial
liabilities at FVTPL and other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

FESFBER ®)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss

The Group’s financial liabilities at FVTPL comprise
financial liability held for trading. A financial liability
is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been incurred principally for the purpose
of repurchasing in the near future; or

. it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any interest paid on the
financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, a loan from a shareholder, amounts due
to shareholders and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009

SRTIA (&)
THEERKE (&)

AR BEIIA Rl BB 18

AEBNURARBEIABGZR 2R
BEERRFEECEMABE -ET

JIBRT  ERBEENHRFEER

—
=

=g

e HEAZIRARNRTARKE
1TREE ¢ 3k

e HAAKERKEEZAHA
TRMTEMEaZz—#2 Bl
HHRERAERENREK
%

e HARWEEZIMNEAETA I
A AREREHRTA -

REREREZBEEER - Ao
BEIABDEKZERABERAIAE
B E AnBEZEHREELS
FMEZRNIEHEKRER - NIERRER
ZWaHEBEFETEERSREE
XA Z RS e

At @B 18

HiemAB (BREENMRRLEMD
ENHE - RE-—2RRZER &
MERRFBEREE) ERRER X
SR ERN AT E ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R & Kis

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled
by other than a fixed amount of cash for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
a derivative financial instrument. Warrants classified
as a derivative financial instrument are recognised
at their fair values at the date of issue. Changes in
fair values in subsequent periods are recognised
through profit or loss.

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled
by a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number the
Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument. The net proceed received from the
issue of warrants is recognised in equity (warrant
reserve). The warrant reserve will be transferred
to share capital and share premium accounts upon
the exercise of the warrants. When the warrants are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in warrant reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire or,
the financial assets are transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised
directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, is also discussed below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HZE—ZTTNF=-A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated allowance for bad and doubtful
debts — trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the Group takes into consideration the estimation of
future cash flows. The amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31 March 2009, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is HK$7,949,000 (2008: HK$69,298,000)
after an allowance for bad and doubtful debts
of HK$46,715,000 (2008: nil) is provided for the
year.

Estimated allowance for bad and doubtful
debts — loan receivables

The policy for impairment assessment for loan
receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation
and estimation of collectability by the management.
A considerable amount of judgment is required
in assessing the ultimate realisation of loan
receivables, including the current creditworthiness
of each borrower. As at 31 March 2009, the carrying
amount of loan receivables is HK$32,949,000
(2008: HK$437,000), after an allowance for bad
and doubtful debts of HK$16,640,000 (2008:
HK$16,360,000). If the financial conditions of
the borrowers were to deteriorate, resulting in
impairment of their ability to make payments, further
provision may be required.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets
and goodwill

Determining whether intangible assets and goodwill
related to the photovoltaic business arising from the
acquisition of subsidiaries are impaired require an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the intangible assets and goodwill
have been allocated. The directors of the Company
have takes into account the signed sales contracts
on hand as well as the sales contracts expected
to be signed in foreseeable future to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2009, the carrying amount of
intangible assets and goodwill are HK$96,059,000
and HK$36,592,000 respectively (2008:
HK$110,117,000 and HK$17,213,000). No
impairment of intangible assets and goodwill are
recognised by the Group for both years ended 31
March 2009. Details of the recoverable amount
calculation of goodwill is disclosed in note 21.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HZE—ZTTNF=-A=+—HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

Though the derivative financial instruments are
quoted in an open market, the market has not been
active for the last five months ended 31 March
2009. The directors, therefore, consider that the
quoted market price is not a reliable reference for
the fair value of the derivative financial instruments
as at 31 March 2009. The directors of the Company
engaged an independent third party valuer who
applies appropriate valuation technique for the
determination of fair value of the derivative financial
instruments. The derivative financial instruments are
valued using the binominal model that incorporated
market data and involved uncertainty in estimates
used by management in the assumptions. Because
binominal model requires the input of highly
subjective assumptions, including the volatility of
share price, changes in subjective input assumptions
can materially affect the fair value estimate. As
at 31 March 2009, the carrying amount of the
derivative financial instruments were approximately
HK$427,000 (2008: HK$112,797,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year except the
Group has raised a loan from a shareholder during
the year.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT EXREREERE £)
(Continued)
The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, NEF 7 EAEESEEE (B8R
which includes a loan from a shareholder disclosed MizE32 B 2 A — I REEAZ—F
in note 32, net of cash and cash equivalents and B2 (HBESEBELEEY) A
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, NAERTEAEEERS (B2 %
comprising issued share capital and reserves. 1TIRAR N G ) o
The directors of the Company review the capital AKRPESTYFRAIERNERE - 1
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this Bms—2n EEEEENKA R
review, the directors consider the cost of capital HERBEKRKEB AR - AEEZR
and the risks associates with each class of capital. BESVED  BBEBTHR - BT
Based on recommendations of the directors, the HERNEERAEGRHRE A - EHE
Group will balance its overall capital structure RRAER R IAHE o
through the issue of new shares as well as the issue
of new debt or the repayment of existing debt.
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS £RITH
Categories of financial instruments EMIBEZER
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFAT
Financial assets TRIEE
Loan and receivables (including cash ERREKKIE (B
and cash equivalents) ReERAEZEEY) 74,103 175,454
Financial assets held for trading FIEEESmMERE 20,193 83,377
Financial liabilities =N
Amortised cost B SHRCR 26,911 17,072
Derivative financial liabilities ESRAE 427 112,797
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HEZE—ZTTNF=-A=+—HILFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s financial instruments include amount

6.

EMITA @)
SRAREERBRBE

KEIZEHQIE BREEK—2HE

due from the majority shareholder of an associate, Tj(]}y\ﬁ RIE - EUERER - [EE
trade receivables, loan receivables, deposits, g e - HMEIWEIE C EIR—2
other receivables, amount due from a shareholder, Hx% RIE - rqu BN T8 - B 1E
amounts due from related companies, held-for- EERE - B174 ﬁ%&fﬁ%ﬁ FE I~ BR
trading investments, bank balances and cash, trade RNEMEMNRIE RREXK - BN

and other payables, a loan from a shareholder,
amounts due to shareholders, borrowings and
derivative financial instruments. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

There has been no significant change to the Group’s

HX%M B -BERTESRBIA- lﬂj
ZeMITAZHBREMTIRE - &
IESRT AR RERLRELE

ERsBEHENTX - EBEGEIR
NERLFRE - HBRER&EB B
G i 2 FEBE ©

-0

AEEFfEEREDSERNEEEE RS

exposure to market risks or the manner in which it =AM 7 e s o
manages and measures the risk.
Currency risk Bk

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure
to foreign currency exchange risk is insignificant as
more than 95% (2008: 95%) of the Group’s revenue
is denominated in the functional currency of each
individual group entity.

B R AN EE#I5% (ZFZT )\ F:
95%) WANSBIEBER 2 #E
BEBHE NESRREAEE 2N
EHRRTE -

The directors consider that the sensitivity of the HRAREB AL EENBEATE—
Group’s exposure towards the change in foreign EEEENSE&EB 2Bt
exchange rates is minimal as most of the Group’s B WEERAEANE .5/\§|\vg§ PE K #5h

assets and liabilities are denominated in the
functional currency of a particular group entity as
at each of the balance sheet dates.

SRR HBRAEER

FENBERIZRARART o 2009F R
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Fair value interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to amount due from the majority
shareholder of as associate, amounts due from
(to) shareholders/related companies and fixed-rate
bank deposit (see notes 23, 28 and 30 for details).
The interest rate risk on the amount due from the
majority shareholder of an associate is limited
because the directors of the Company estimated
that the interest derived from the amount would
be insignificant if the amount were charged with
prevailing interest rate.

The interest rate risk on the amounts due from
related companies, bank deposits and amounts
due to shareholders is limited because of the
short maturity or repayment on demand nature. A
significant portion of the amounts due from related
companies has been settled subsequent to the
reporting date.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates to
the loan receivables, bank balances, a loan from
a shareholder and variable-rate borrowings (see
notes 25, 30, 32 and 33 for details). The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk on borrowings and a loan
from a shareholder are mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of the prime rate.

The Group currently does not have interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise. The Group’s exposures to
interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in
the liquidity risk management section of this note.

China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009

€RTH &)
SREBREEBERBE (£)

mEmE (&)
A EEFEE R

7K = 68 D I SR LA B 2 8 R K BBUSR K
H - R (BN BRR R EER
ARBARBEENREFREB AN
EEMXRER (F R E23 28K
30) o FE U B & R R ARBER IR 2 F
XEBRBRASER  BAARRRESRM
At R FIERRBRE ARG S - A
HEEEZFEEBIAX -

FEU BRI AR FRIR - RITHERREN
BRERREZFEXERITESER - 1t
TTHRRZERASPRELMEE /IR
ZRIEE - U RE R RIIR 2 A B
MRREBHERDEE -

HE BT F R

AEBZREREN KRR T ENRE
WE - RITHEH REEREZH
FEEE(GFRWE25-3032%
) c AEEEFBEERREERZ
ReReMERBRFIFEEFREER

R 2B -

AR BRI AT A M R EPBUR o
A BEEEBRZEREHEREL P
BERZAMERER - ANEBERERBAE
ZHRERAEFHN AR ERE M
e\ B B IR — P



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R & Kis

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTNF=A=+—HILFE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Cash flow interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative financial instruments. For variable-rate
loan receivables, a loan from a shareholder and
borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of asset and liability outstanding at the
balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points (2008: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

In view of the insignificant sensitivity for variable-
rate bank balances, the directors of the Company
consider that effect of fluctuation of the interest rate
on the consolidated income statement is limited.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2008: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s loss for the year
ended 31 March 2009 would decreasel/increase
by HK$131,440 (2008: decreasel/increase by
HK$35,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-
rate loan receivables, borrowings and a loan from
a shareholder.

€RTHE &)
SREBEEEERBE (&)

TS mEE (&)
A mEFFERE (&)
BRREDH

TXZHREDIIIRBIITES B
TAZFERERETE - wmEFEF =R
EWER  RRERREEZDITE
ERENGEHEAZRKEEEERAR
THERNEBFEARER AKEE
EHRARTHAS0EER (—FETN\F -
S50EE%) MEBEBEENEEEY
MERATREHIE 2 BIBEBIEL 271 E -

ERFHNERITERCHBER
K> RRAREZR/NEXNBDEEE
Wk e HEBR -

AR EFTFBS0EER (=
T)N\FE :50EEE) MABEME
FHFTE  ARKEEEE_ZZTAN
FZA=+—HLEFEZEBERLS
WA N131,4408 T (ZEEN
180350008 T) 0 T E
RAAASEAEHLIHNEXEKE
K BRRERREEZHERE -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in relation
to held-for-trading investments and the warrants
classified as derivative financial instruments.

For held-for-trading investments, the management
manages the exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks.

Sensitivity analysis
Warrants

If the spot market quoted price of the Company’s
warrant had been 5% higher/lower while all other
variables were held constant, the loss for the year
ended 31 March 2008 would increase/decrease by
HK$413,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the fair value
of the warrants was determined by using binominal
model. However, since the market quoted price of
the Company’s shares is significantly lower than the
exercise price of the warrants, the directors of the
Company consider the equity price risk is limited.

Held-for-trading investments

If the spot market quoted price of the held-for-
trading investments had been 5% higher/lower while
all other variables were held constant, the loss for
the year ended 31 March 2009 would decrease/
increase by HK$1,010,000 (2008: decrease/increase
by HK$4,169,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent market risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 #HEZE—ZTTNF=-A=-+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which may causes a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to perform an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Trade receivables

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had significant
concentration on a trade debtor which accounted for
over 90% of the trade receivables. The customer is
a foreign-owned enterprise located in Changzhou,
Jiangsu of PRC and it is principally engaged in the
production of solar panel. The credit limit granted
to this customer is US$15,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$117,000,000). As the amount had
been overdue for more than one year and it was
not settled up to the reporting date, the directors of
the Company considered the chance of recovering
the receivables is remote and therefore provided an
allowance for bad and doubtful debts of HK$46,715,000
in the consolidated income statement of 2009.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on
trade receivables as over 90% of the total trade
receivables are due from one customer within the
business segment of photovoltaic business. As the
customer has placed a deposit of HK$4,500,000
to the Group for another sales order, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group has the
authority to take possession of the deposit if the
customer is default for the trade receivables. As
such, the directors of the Company consider the
Group’s credit risk is limited.

€RTH &)
SREBREEBEREE (&)

EEER

R-ZZFEZNF=ZA=+—8"  BHF
E%mﬁﬁ%%ﬁT gﬁﬁﬁl%
m%%%%2$ﬁl =EER

AéF%ﬁ%%ﬂxﬁaﬁw,
ﬂﬁ%Z%ﬁ@ﬁ%io

FE Ui B R

R-ZZFEZENF=ZA=+—08 " £5E
2ﬁ%$ AEEEF (—RBEPHE
Y BR FRHBIE90% ) ° MR Tif i &
TIEHEEMZINEBELE  FEH
BREEAGREIZER - LTHER
)521?%&%@7%15 000,000 7t (48

A#7117,000,000/87T) ° R ZE
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Loan receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk on loan
receivables as over 90% of the total loan receivables
are due from the Group’s two largest customers
within the business segment of money lending. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual loan at each balance sheet date
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. Also, the two
customers had no default repayment history. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Amounts due from related companies

The Group has concentration of credit risk on
amounts due from related companies as the
amounts represent amounts due from two related
companies.

As over 80% of the amounts have been settled
subsequent to the reporting date, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R & Kis
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TMITH @)
Amounts due from related companies FEURRAE N RFIE (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk mEELERE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group nEBRSEScREMS B NEEE
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash RNEZINS NIRSEBYREEE
equivalents deemed adequate by the management AEAEBZKE  BANEBRELKEE
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the B WRHIER S RE T 22 o
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The following table details the Group’s remaining TREBEARAEE SR EBEZFGRE D
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The FHIZES - BREVIKRIIEBENRNAER
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted e ERNEZEEHEBzZ2/mE
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the BEAULRBEESREEE - NHSHAEHN
earliest date on which the Group can be required to BRETFTEHSTEE - BRARN 7 i
pay. The table includes both interest and principal T2 FRREERE LGS T RRERE
cash flows. Listed warrants issued by the Company WEREE  BWRFINTRED o
are not included in the table below as they did not
have cash flow impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
Liquidity tables T B2 FFE
Within Total Carrying
Effective 3 months or undiscounted amount at
interest rate on demand cash flows 31.3.2009
R-ZBRF
AR A¥E =A=1-H
L yilks REER BERELE ZRHEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TET
2009 2 Sk
Non-derivative financial FiTESREE
liabilities
Trade payables FEfTERR - 986 986 986
Other payables H R FR - 3,734 3,734 3,734
Loan from a shareholder BERER 7.0 14,849 14,849 14,594
Amount due to a shareholder  ERREFIE = 7,597 7,597 7,597
27,166 27,166 26,911
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

EMTER )
EWEELBRE (&)

Amounts due from related companies
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TEELERE (&)

Liquidity tables (Continued) BB DFFE (&)

Within Total Carrying
Effective 3 months or undiscounted amount at
interest rate on demand cash flows 31.3.2008
R-BENF
=@AR AEE  ZA=t+-H
BERA= REER BERELE ZREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THL TR
2008 —ZTNE
Non-derivative financial FiTESHER
liabilities
Trade payables FERTIRR = 13,266 13,266 13,266
Other payables Hit R FIE - 3,206 3,206 3,206
Borrowings fBE 8.3 606 606 600
17,078 17,078 17,072
Fair value NREE

THEERSRMBECANEBEETE
liabilities are determined as follows: W

The fair values of financial assets and financial

. the fair values of financial assets with J ZIEEBERRIEERE RRE
standard terms and conditions and traded BREMEBERIZIEMEELZ
on active liquid markets are determined with AREBEEDSNZ2EMERE

reference to quoted market bid prices; and

the fair values of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis using prices
from observable current market transactions as
input. For an option-based derivative, the fair
value is estimated using option pricing model
(see details in note 34).
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. @ETIAE %
Fair value (Continued) AREE (&)
The directors consider that the carrying amounts EER AN E B R &R DA §5 B AR
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded Eak s A ﬂéﬁ%&@pﬁﬁﬁz,ﬂ%ﬁ@
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial HENLEBERS
statements approximate their fair values.
REVENUE 7. WA
Revenue, which is also turnover of the Group, WA - IRENAREE 7 & %8 - FEATIR
represents value of services rendered and interest iRz BEREBREELE 2B U
income earned from money lending, and is analysed A DT -
as follows:
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Long-term service contract of HAREBRIARBEL
photovoltaic business 16,200 93,000
Financial advisory services B 745 R ] AR 75 1,383 2,107
Interest income from money lending BERZFEHA 892 2,561
18,475 97,668

FENBERIZRARAF o 2009F K
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.

DEER

REAEE 2 NEHBHHRRHE - K
KREREANXBOBREETEZ RS
N BRI EBNERGRIEBL

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting, the Group has determined that business
segments are its primary reporting format, with each
segment organised and managed separately.

KB

Business segments

The Group is organised into three main business

RER B =l = B XA 0 #BAEAX -

segments:
Photovoltaic Development and YR 2T N
business manufacturing of solar jﬂ%—%ﬁ
cells, modules and B REERE
panels for generating ZHRBENEE
solar electric power
Strategic Participation in primary I E SETFE N RE
investments and and secondary INEZ N FHEME AR
capital market securities market and %55 Bl IEHE RS
activities provision of capital &8 [ AR 7%
market advisory services
Financing Provision of commercial R IEHEENL
and personal loans BAAEZK

There are no significant sales or other transactions

between the business segments.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. DHER (&)
Business segments (Continued) DI (&)
Strategic
investments
Photovoltaic and capital
business market activities Financing Unallocated Consolidated
REMRER
RRER EXHEED wE *E ga

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
SRRAE CTT\F ZBREBAE T\ ZBEAE CIT/\F ZEEAE RR\F ZEEAE TT)E
HK§'000  HK§'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000  HKS$'000
Téx TEx Tz TET  TEx  ThEr  TEx  TET  TEn  TER

Revenue from external  RESNRZE

customers WA 16,200 93,000 1,383 2,107 892 2,561 - - 18,475 97,668
Segment result PEEE (106,286) (124,570)  (33,267)  (1,978) (14) 5,043 - - (139,567) (121,505)
Other income ECON 638 9,593
Share of loss of an AE—HEHE AT

associate pd 7 (6,738) (582) - - - - - - (6738) (582)
Unallocated corporate ~ AAEARIFS

expenses (3,726)  (15,581)

Change in fair value ~ $TEERTEZ

of derivative financial A% EEEH

instruments 112,370  (87,230)
Allowance for an amount 4B 4 A7)

due from the majority ~ ABRFBEE

shareholder of an

associate (10,000) -
Finance costs BENK (601) (18)
Loss before taxation BB AIER (47,624) (215,323)
Tax credit (expense)  FIEMA (i) 1,130 (99)
Loss for the year EnEE (46,494)  (216,319)

BALANCE SHEET BEAER

Total assets BEBME 27206 265117 20197 83934 33014 437 13918 98794 294,425 448,282
Total liabilities BfELE (12524)  (22,068)  (3,003)  (3,538) (16)  (964) (22,709) (117,168) (38,252) (143,738)

OTHER INFORMATION Eff& %!

Depreciation of property, 1% * FiE &

plant and equipment  FEIFE 256 239 - = - - - = 256 239
Capital expenditure BARY 37 202 = - - - = - 37 202
Allowance for REGEE

(reversal of) badand ~ (f5@)

doubtful debts 46,715 - - - 280 (2,500) 390 - 47,385 (2,500)
Allowance for trade U HER L]

deposit 23,938 - - - - - - - 23,938 -
Amortisation of BV AEZH

intangible assets 14,058 14,058 - - - - - - 14,058 14,058
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical segments

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong,
other areas of China and the United States (“US”).

The Group’s financing and strategic investments
and capital market activities are mainly carried
out in Hong Kong. Photovoltaic business is mainly
carried out in other areas of China.

The following table provides an analysis of the
Group’s revenue by geographical location of the
Group’s customers. It also provides an analysis
of the carrying amount of segment assets and
additions of the property, plant and equipment,
analysed by the geographical area in which the
assets are located or the assets are registered.

8.

DEEE (&)
i & 5 2R

AEBEZ 2BUNES  FEEAMmM
& NS ([RE ) -

AREBZRENNRREERE REXR
MGEBETENEBET  MAERE
BREERPEEMMBERETT o

TRARAEEEFPHAAEMEETTZ
AREBWADN - BEFRKREEM
EREEEMMIHEOMDBLEELZ
RHEMIE  BEEREBEIRE -

Other areas

Hong Kong of China us Segment total
& hE H it E £ pHast
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ZBENE 2T\ ZEBAE T\ ZBEAE 2T\ 2BBAE —TI)
HK$’'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Téx TAr TEr TEr TEx TEAT TExr TEx
Revenue from external ~ RESNFEFZMA

customers 2,275 4,668 15,639 93,000 561 - 18,475 97,668
Segment assets PHEE 129,545 142,061 8,050 60,660 142,912 146,767 280,507 349,488
Capital expenditure BARY 19 152 - - 18 50 37 202
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9.

10.

11.

OTHER INCOME 9. HMWA
2009 2008
—ETRE —ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAETT
Secondment services & AR 7% = 2,915
Interest income from bank balances IRITHEE T BUWA 28 1,520
Dividend income from listed securities FES R BWA = 33
Net exchange gain P H s 558 - 2,402
Royalty income =R REU A - 2,325
Others HA 610 398
638 9,593
NET (LOSS) GAIN ON HELD-FOR- 10. BEEBEERE (FE) WU F
TRADING INVESTMENTS 5
2009 2008
—EENE —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FA&TT
Change in fair value of FIEEEREZ
held-for-trading investments AREEZEH (29,310) 1,206

STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

11. ETRA (BRESHE)

2009 2008

—EEhE —EENF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FBT

Salaries, allowances and benefits e~ R NER 13,112 14,518

Share-based payment expenses VARRAD ST 2 - 5,320
Contributions to retirement RINBFIFT B

benefit schemes 578 381

13,690 20,219

FENBERIZRARAF o 2009F K
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12. FINANCE COSTS 12. RMEKE
2009 2008
—EERE ZT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET
Interest on borrowings wholly repayable  ZBERAFARHEEZ
within five years BEZHE 601 18
13. TAXATION 13. Bi1E
2009 2008
—EBERE —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Current tax: ANEAFRIA -
Hong Kong BHE - 420
Other jurisdiction Hih e A EE - 12
- 432
(Over)underprovision in prior years NEFE (BrEE)
— Hong Kong BETE &5 (1,130) 564
Total tax (credit) expense MIE (W A) g (1,130) 996

RZZFEENFAAA=_+H ' &F
VERBB(ZEZENFRAKLE
R BRAINEWEBR17.5%HFF
16.5% ' BTN/ —_ZZTNREH
FEMBER - BRAEERESEZ
EBERNLEELERBEF - R
ﬂ%% BRISRMEEE AR ASE

EREMARAEER  ERTEEE

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed the Revenue Bill 2008 which reduced
corporate profits tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5%
effective from the year of assessment 2008/2009.
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as the Group’s operations in Hong Kong had
no assessable profits for the year. No provision
for taxation in other jurisdictions was made in the

consolidated financial statements for the year as ERBURN - RERARFEE 2 iFe /M
the Group’s operations outside Hong Kong had no BHRERIUEBEEMADEEER TR
assessable profits. fEH B -

REBEZE-_ZEENF=A=+—HItF
€ BAFER IR T E R m A
Z17.5%=tE o

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 17.5% of
the estimated assessable profit for the year ended
31 March 2008.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

13.

TAXATION (Continued)

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions were calculated
at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions
for the year ended 31 March 2008.

The tax (credit) charge for the year can be reconciled
to the loss per the consolidated income statement

13. BIE (&)

BE_ZZN\F=ZR=+—HILF
B Rl AEBEREL ZHIALM
FARZEERERBERAHERAE -

ERBIE (WA % HEEARSEY
B2 HEMT :

as follows:

2009 2008
—EERE ZT)N\F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
THET TET
Loss before taxation AT E 1R (47,624) (215,323)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of & & 155 £ 16.5%
16.5% (2008: 17.5%) (ZZZENF 1 17.5%)
sHE BB (7,858) (37,682)
Tax effect of share of loss of an associate &5 —EEE & A FEIE 2
MG & 1,112 102
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR S 2 RiE s 2 11,934 38,903
Tax effect of non-taxable income ERBIWMA R E (18,617) (917)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZ BRIEEE 2
MG E 13,429 1,990
Utilisation of tax losses not previously AN RER G EE
recognised - (2,314)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries M EMAEEERELL
operating in other jurisdiction MBARTRME & - 350
(Over)underprovision in prior years AESFE (BEEE)
BETE (1,130) 564
Tax (credit) charge for the year FABRIE (BA) X (1,130) 996

At the balance sheet date, the Group has estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$351,303,000
(2008: HK$269,917,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred taxation asset has been
recognised in respect of these tax losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax
losses may carry forward indefinitely.

REEH - NEB A K HE KRG
MzEar ADRAMBERBN A
351,303,000/ T (Z T T N\ F:
269,917,000/ 7T) - AR ARBETAFT K
Hm FIRR - A Bk L SR E 8
BRELEHIBEE - BIBEBETER

FENBERIZRARAT o 2009F R
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14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. FREE
2009 2008
—EERE ZT)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET TET
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEETEN £ -
— provision for the year — F R 2,014 2,326
— underprovision in prior year —LEFERBIE - 10
2,014 2,336
Bad debts written off 122 RR M 85 903 912
Net exchange loss bE H BRI F R 441 -
Operating lease rentals in respect of: KEHEMED -
— office premises — WA= 3,661 2,343
— other assets — Hih&EE 169 —
Research and development expenses fEER - 233
15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 15. EEMWE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 9 ENKERNTNAME (ZFEZENE 1
(2008: 9) directors were as follows: i) EEZMED AT -
For the year ended 31 March 2009 BE-ZEZNF=A=+—HLEE
Chan Chu Tam
Wai Chik Choi Chow Yin Kam Henry

Kwong, Ming,  Pierre Shek Siu Tat Biu,  OnKien John Total

Peter Jack Seligman Chau Ngor Man  William Ouoc Ken Behukell 2009
Henry
Pierre OnKien  John st

RAX  KBH Seligman  EHN  BIE  REX  EHE OuocKen Behukell =ZFAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Thr TEx T TEx Thr TEx T  TEx  TEn

(note a) (note b)
(Hf3ta) (Hf3tb)
Fees we - - - 23 38 80 240 - - 381
Other emoluments ~ E /&4
Salaries and other 4 REMER
benefits 630 963 900 - - - - 894 840 4,221
Contributions to RIERIE 2]
retirement 3
benefit scheme 12 - 12 - - - - - - 24
Total emoluments Me@s 642 963 912 23 38 80 240 894 840 4,632
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15. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 15. EEM <€ »)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2008 EETT)\F=A=1T—HILFE
Chan Chu Tam
Wai Chik Chow Yin Kam Henry
Kwong, Ming, Pierre  Zoltan J. Siu Tat Biu,  OnKien John Total
Peter Jack  Seligman Kiss Ngor Man  Wiliam Ouoc Ken  Behukell 2008
Henry
Pierre  Zoltan J. On Kien John it

BAEX  KEH Seligman Kss  $0E  REX  EHE OuocKen Behukell ZZFNE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HKS$'000

Tér TAr TEr TAr  TEr  ThAr  TEnr  TAr  TEr  TEn

Fees e - - - - 80 80 240 - 260 660

Other emoluments ~ Efri4
Salaries and other ~ HAREMET

benefits 510 1,276 932 52 - - 6 596 207 3,579
Contributions to RAERIEHE]
retirement f
benefit scheme 12 - 12 - - - - - 42 66
Total emoluments Meas 522 1,276 944 52 80 80 246 596 509 4,305
Notes: P EE -
(a) Mr Chu Chik Ming, Jack resigned on 22 December 2008. (a) KERALEER-ZZTZNF+_HA=+=AH
BHE -
(b) Mr Chow Siu Ngor retired on 23 September 2008. (b) BNEEERTTNFLA=ZT=AR
£ -
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the RAFE  ARESEREANESE
Group to any of the directors as an inducement to NERIMARE R 2 285 /E = BER
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation HMEIHE RAFE  BIEESN
for loss of office. None of the directors has waived ZEMME -

any emoluments during the year.
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16. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 16. EEME
Of the five highest paid individuals in the Group, AEEBRuUGZEMEALTZRE=M
three (2008: one) were directors of the Company (ZEZENF : — ) BARARESE -
whose emoluments are included in note 15. The AARESZMEEE#HRHIFE15 H
emoluments of the remaining two (2008: remaining BN (ZEENFE  ER0O60) &=
four) highest paid individuals were as follows: e AT 2B T
2009 2008
—EERE ZT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FET
Salaries and allowances and B - SRR REDAN R
benefits in kind 3,000 4,205
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR {K48 FI|5+ 2 3% - 12
Share-based payment expenses ARRAD ST 2 - 3,515
3,000 7,732
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEsMeEBELT -
2009 2008
—EERE —ZT)N\F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EE A EE A
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 &L E
1,500,000/% 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 L2
2,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ TE
3,500,000/% 7T - 1
2 4
During both years, no emoluments were paid by the RREFE  AEEBERLACRS
Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as e AT 2ERMALTIMERMA
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or REE RESERBEBMEZHNE -

as compensation for loss of office.
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17.

18.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2009 (2008:
nil) and the Company did not pay any interim
dividend during the year (2008: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per
share was based on the loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company of HK$44,383,000 (2008:
HK$215,125,000) and on the weighted average
of 5,223,575,000 (2008: restated 5,025,516,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The computation of the 2009 diluted loss per share
does not assume the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding warrants and share options since their
exercise would result in a decrease in loss per
share.

Note:  Pursuant to the prospectus dated 6 July 2009, shareholders
of the Company are entitled to subscribe the rights shares
at a subscription price of HK$0.08 per rights share on the
basis of one rights share for every two shares. Accordingly,
the number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic and
diluted loss per share had been adjusted for the effect of
rights issue retrospectively for both years.

17.

18.

Hﬁ 1%\

EXVFEARNBEEZE _TTNAF=
A=Z+—BLEFEZEE (ZFZEN
F &) MARBRFALEIRMNE
AP HRE (ZZETNF &) -

BREE

BREAREESBIBREFALAA
7] ¥ % FF B A JE {h /5 544,383,000
BT (ZZEZE )\ F :215,125,000%
To) REBEITEEMR 2 TS E
5,223,575,000/% (Z =TT \ F : (&
&%) 5,025,516,0000%) 5t -

TEERNFrEREFEEBFET R
BRERATEARR B M ARITE 2 BRI HEF
MERERAZERRESRERE
FESFRERRD -

Mk : REBBHA-TTAELANAZERE
2 ARRRFRBRZEFEMBRRMNE
B RS 2 B ATRERRRD
0.08B T 2 RIEERBEHRRMD - Bt -
STHEREARREEEEAMA LT BREE
ERER T FERMEFEANELBHA
?ﬁo
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. ¥  BMERRE

Furniture,
fixtures
and office
equipment
H - RER
MAERE
HK$’000
FET
COST R
At 1 April 2007 RZZEZELFMHA—H 1,848
Additions NE 202
Disposals e (187)
At 31 March 2008 RZZEENF=A=+—H 1,863
Additions NE 37
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEZAF=HA=+—H 1,900
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2007 R-ZEZLFMAH—H 943
Provided for the year FREE 239
Eliminated on disposals t 5 B ¥ 8 (71)
At 31 March 2008 R=ZZEENEFE=HA=+—H 1,111
Provided for the year FREE 256
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEBEAF=A=+—H 1,367
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2009 R-BEhRF=A=+—H 533
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=A=+—H 752

Furniture, fixture and office equipment are E

depreciated on a straight-line basis at 20% per

annum.

m China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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TENE=A=+-ALEE
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS BREE
Intellectual
property
rights
HEERE
HK$’000
FET
COST AR AN
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and RZZEZELFWA—H —ZZEZN\F
31 March 2009 —A=+—RAER=ZETNRF=A=+—H 140,575
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION E-S g F
At 1 April 2007 R-ETLEMA—H 16,400
Charge for the year FAXH 14,058
At 31 March 2008 R-_ZEZENF=ZA=+—H 30,458
Charge for the year FRAZ M 14,058
At 31 March 2009 R-BEAF=A=+—8 44,516
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2009 R-BENRF=ZA=1+—8H 96,059
At 31 March 2008 RZZEZENF=A=+—H 110,117

The intangible assets represent certain technologies
and intellectual property rights related to photovoltaic
business that acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries
from independent third parties. They are amortised
on a straight-line basis over a period of 10 years.

BVEERE TELCREBAR K
iy N KB ERE - JINRBILH =7 W
BHBAREEA BEEERIOF
HIA B AORBESH -

FENBRRIZRARAF o 2009FRK
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21. GOODWILL 21. BE
HK$’000
FHET
COST 2
At 1 April 2007 R-TE+EmA—A 47,890
Arising on acquisition of additional BiE—FNB AR ERREE
interest in a subsidiary 17,213
At 31 March 2008 R-EBNF=A=1— 65,103
Arising on acquisition of additional B —FWE AR ﬁnﬁ—rFE
interest in a subsidiary 19,379
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEBEAF=A=+—H 84,482
IMPAIRMENT RAE
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and RZZEZELFWA—H —ZZEZN\F
31 March 2009 —A=+—RAER=ZZETNRF=A=+—H 47,890
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2009 R-ZEEAF=RA=+—H 36,592
At 31 March 2008 RZZEENF=A=+—H 17,213
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or RE FHeHHEETRENR
more frequently if there are indications that goodwill o WEBDRBREER] LR
might be impaired. B - Bl iR RS -
The management allocated the goodwill to the EREENPEIEERESELEM
cash generating unit (“CGU”) which engaged in ([ReELEEM] Eﬂﬁé%ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ%ﬁ‘%)
photovoltaic business for the purpose of goodwill REEERENR - REEHR B8
impairment testing. At the balance sheet date, the ZEREEBERIEEARNAR —HKEAR
carrying amount of goodwill represents premium Terra Solar Global, Inc ([TSG]) %
of HK$36,592,000 (2008: HK$17,213,000) arising W E &£ 236,592,000 L (ZEZ
from the acquisition of additional equity interest in J\E 17,213,000 7T) )& (B °
Terra Solar Global, Inc (“TSG”), a subsidiary of the
Company.
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21. GOODWILL (Continued) 21. B8 ®)
The recoverable amount of the CGU has been BHeELSMN WO E5ERFERE
determined on the basis of value in use calculation. BB xEF - nfliol &% 1@ =
The recoverable amount is based on the financial KEBEAEZ RFGBTEETE
budget approved by management for the next year WIZEETE EE R EXR10% (ZEEN
and extrapolates cash flows for the following six F10%) HERRANFZRER
years based on an estimated constant growth rate = AR XRI A Eijm%z
of 10% (2008: 10%). This rate does not exceed the FEHIEE R « ;IR 28R
long-term growth rate for the relevant markets. The BRI E B18% (ZTEN\F - 15%) ®
rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is EENERReELEUET RS
18% (2008: 15%). Cash flow projection during the mETERI TR ETE S SR 2 B HA E F)
budget period for the CGU is based on the expected EET  BEEMNETDIREBUERE
gross margins during the budget period. Budgeted &Efiﬁm EERRETEHET - B
gross margins have been determined based on ERE RZEENFR-_ZTZNF
past performance and management’s expectations =A=1t—8  WEZNEFREXRE
for the market development. In the opinion of the EE1E -
directors, no material impairment loss is identified
as at 31 March 2008 and 2009.
Management believes that any reasonably possible BEERE  LlEAREZEME
change in any of these assumptions would not BrA e E BRI EA B
cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed ZEREEBLER KBS HE o
its recoverable amount.
22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 22. R—EBEQT 2ER
2009 2008
—EENEF —EE)N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FET
Cost of unlisted investment, at cost ELETIREKA -
RKREARR 7,320 7,320
Share of post-acquisition losses FE1G W B 18 B 18 (7,320) (582)
- 6,738

FENBRRIZRARAF o 2009FRK
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22.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

22.

Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 March

2009 are as follows:

R—EBE R ATI 2R (&)

EENF=H=+—HAEEH
NAEIZFBOT :

Attributable

Form of Place of equity interest
business incorporation directly held
Name structure and operation by the Company Principal activities
AL S R AAREE
a1 FBRBERX KEmE BECRERE IEXK
Taiwan C.S. Energy Incorporated Taiwan 30% Investment holding
Corporation EEa11i i AV =) (note)
(“Taiwan CS”) WEZER (5T
BEELXBRMD
BR AT

(TaBER])

Note:

Its subsidiary is principally engaged in manufacturing of the

production lines for solar cells, modules and panels.

The summarised financial information in respect of
the Group’s associate is set out below:

GEX

AEEBERR
™

HEREBIRZ EELR

HIfB AR T EXFRERE

Al 2 BA 75 B R At an

2009 2008

—EBAE —ZTTNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

Total assets BEME 124,691 227,234

Total liabilities BERE 176,700 195,034

Net (liabilities) assets (BR) BEFE (52,009) 32,200

Group’s share of net assets rEERLEESE - 6,738

Revenue WA 80,288 57,040

Loss for the year FREE 102,786 1,896
Group’s share of loss of the associate REEEGEE QR ZEE

for the year 6,738 582
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22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
(Continued)

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share
of loss of an associate. The amount of unrecognised
share of loss of this associate, extracted from the
relevant management accounts of associate, both
for the year and cumulatively, are as follows:

22.

R—EBE R TI 2R (&)

AEB DK IEEREG — RS QA
ZEBER - WEE AR E AR CERE
BRB 2 REREIEZB 2152 B8
2E - HAFHNRFHAT ¢

2009 2008
—gEAE —TI\F
HK$’°000 HK$°000
FET FHT
Unrecognised share of loss of an AN RER G —
associate for the year AN JF =] 24,098 -
Accumulated unrecognised share of RETRHERIE(E —A
loss of an associate s N A2 BB 24,098 -

23. AMOUNT DUE FROM THE MAJORITY
SHAREHOLDER OF AN ASSOCIATE

As at 31 March 2009, an amount of HK$15,911,000
(2008: HK$16,517,000) was advanced to the
majority shareholder of the Group’s associate.
The amount is secured by the shares of Taiwan
CS owned by the majority shareholder of the
Group’s associate. The amount is interest-free and
is repayable by 30 June 2009. After taking into
account of settlement subsequent to balance sheet
date, the directors of the Company considered that
the recoverability of the balance is not probable
and therefore recognised an allowance for bad and
doubtful debts of HK$10,000,000 during the year.

23.

B —HBE DR ARRK
|

RZEZEANF=ZA=1+—H ' &AQ
AR AL EEE QA 2 KRR EMSR
#.3015,911,0008 T (ZZEZ )\ &F :
16,517,000/ 7T) ° ZERIB I AR
SEBEARNARRERE 8 EE
ﬁﬁ%’%ﬁ#% c ZENIEBEENA

RZZEZTNAFANA= +E12HI EiE o
RARESKERINGEERHE 2B
BN REBBIKRATREKE @ i
F N E #3210,000,0005% T 2 RIZER
B o
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. YRR
2009 2008
—EERE ZT)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables JE W BR TR 54,664 69,298
Less: Allowance for bad and B RIBARE
doubtful debts (46,715) -
7,949 69,298
The ageing analysis of trade receivables net of FEURER N (MBR RIBIREE) 2Rk D
allowance for bad and doubtful debts is stated as WA :
follows:
2009 2008
—EEBhAE _—ZTTN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Within 90 days 90H A 7,949 69,298
In determining the recoverability of the trade EETRKER ZAIKEIEER &
receivables, the Group considers any changes in SEeEZRREREREEARLEE
the credit quality of the trade receivables from the EHEREAHHABCEMEEESR
date credit was initially granted up to the reporting o
date.
The receivables with a carrying amount of BR M B /&7,949,0008 T (ZZEZE N
HK$7,949,000 (2008: HK$2,504,000) are neither F : 2,504,000 7T ) 2 FEULER 5K = K
past due nor impaired at reporting date. The Group BH - RIEBBNERE ~&F
believes that the amounts are recoverable. FEE A KB ZFERIE -
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24.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for bad and
doubtful debts

24, FEUWERR (&)

RERBRERE

HK$'000
FET
Balance at 1 April 2007 and RZZEZELFNA—BE_ZEEN\F
31 March 2008 —A=+—H#%&%% =
Impairment losses recognised on BB W AR R EEE
receivables 46,715
Balance at 31 March 2009 RIZEBESANFE=RA=1+—RH&t 46,715

The Group has policy of providing allowance for
bad and doubtful debts which is based on the
evaluation of collectibility and age of accounts
and on management’s judgement including credit
worthiness and past collection history of each
client. In determining the recoverability of the trade
receivables, the Group considers any changes in
the credit quality of the trade receivables from the
date credit was initially granted up to the reporting
date.

The amount has been overdue for more than one
year and it was not settled up to the reporting
date. The directors of the Company considered
the recovery of the amount is not probable and
therefore recognised a full allowance for bad and
doubtful debts of HK$46,715,000 for the year.

AEE 2 RERBHBRRTIREREK
RRR AU B2 E K ARl 2 FF G - AR
EEEHE (BREREFZER
KA WEREC8%) T HlE - EEE R
WHRFR Z AIKEIRZER  AEEEE
BREEFEEARLEEERER
SERYRZEEEERED -

MARECAHER—F  BHER
EHBDOREN  c KRRREERAT
ARAJREWR I ZEFKTE - AR FRE
HHER R IR 546,715,000/ 7T °
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25. LOAN RECEIVABLES

"

25. ERER

2009 2008

—EERE —ZTN\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAETT

Loan receivables eI E X 49,589 16,797
Less: Allowance for bad and o RIEBEREME

doubtful debts (16,640) (16,360)

32,949 437

Amounts represent loan receivables from customers
in money lending business. The loan receivables
are unsecured, interest-bearing at prime rate plus
1% per annum (2008: prime rate plus 3% to 5% per
annum) and with repayment period of 12 months
from date of drawdown. The effective interest rate
of the loan receivables is 6.4% (2008: 8.3%) per
annum. The amounts were fully settled subsequent
to the balance sheet date.

The loan receivables with carrying amount of
HK$32,949,000 (2008: HK$437,000) are neither past
due nor impaired at reporting date. The directors of
the company considered that the credit worthiness
of the customers has not deteriorated.

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables
as at 31 March 2009 is accumulated impairment
loss of HK$16,640,000 (2008: HK$16,360,000).
An allowance of HK$16,360,000 was provided
in previous years. The directors of the Company
considered the recovery of the amount is not
probable because the borrower had been liquidated.
An allowance for bad and doubtful debts of
HK$280,000 has been provided during the year. The
directors of the Company considered the recovery
of the amount is not probable because the Group
has lost the contact of the borrower.
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26.

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

25. EWER (&)

Movement in the allowance for bad and RIZERRB{EST)
doubtful debts
2009 2008
—EBERE —ZETNF
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Balance at 1 April AP A —HB & 16,360 16,360
Impairment recognised B #ERRE 280 —
Balance at 31 March R=A=+—B#&% 16,640 16,360
INVENTORIES 7
2009 2008
—EEAFE —ZTT)\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Photovoltaic hardware and equipment FEAIRRE 1 K 2R A 66,728 —

FENBRRIZRARAF o 2009FRK
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27. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND

27. FlE  ENREREMER

OTHER RECEIVABLES Hig
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Deposits (note i) HEACIED) 23,938 54,437
Prepayments TEfT FRIE 152 194
Other receivables (note ii) H e RIR (B aEii) 361,129 371,258
Less: Allowance for bad and W RIEERRIER
doubtful debts (379,000) (354,672)
6,219 71,217
Classified as: DR
Current assets mBEE 6,219 61,155
Non-current assets (note iii) JEmBEE E (MaTiii) - 10,062
6,219 71,217
Movement in the allowance for bad and FEHEEERECEE
doubtful debts
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Balance at 1 April REA—B &8 354,672 354,672
Impairment recognised ERERZRBIE 24,328 =
Balance at 31 March R=BA=+—824%&# 379,000 354,672

China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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27. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

27.

A& AAREREABER
FRIE (4%)

Notes: PaE -

(i) During the year, the Group paid trade deposits of nil (2008: (i) FERN - AEEDRIMARERS L ERBRE
HK$9,735,000) and HK$23,938,000 (2008: HK$44,702,000) BB HARAR ([HERL]) BAE
to Chinese United Semiconductor Equipment Manufacturing EREINE ST AT (T NE
Inc. (“CUSEM”) and Taiwan CS respectively. CUSEM was 9,735,000/ 7T) 23,938,000/ T (=%

a subcontractor of the Group which became a subsidiary of T J\4F : 44,702,000/ 7T) ° F EHE A LA
Taiwan CS since prior year. FEAEEARE  RE—FEKAEE
EREZIEBAR
As Taiwan CS has been loss making since it was incorporated, é/‘%@i% B sE Ak 32 LA SR — B R &S
inventories of HK$42,737,000 acquired during the year ended Bk RBEZE-ZTHAhF=A=+—H
31 March 2009 were settled by the trade deposit paid during 1F FE U 42,737,000 T2 FEE B
the year ended 31 March 2009. The directors of the Company RBE-_ZETHNEFE=A=1+—"HIFEEX
considered that the recovery of the remaining deposits paid to N2 B 58 E N - RARESRATK
Taiwan CS is not probable. As such, the Group recognised a AR BN FREBEREZISHE - A
full allowance for trade deposit of HK$23,938,000 (2008: nil) It AEEERGEERERE R BEER
in the consolidated income statement. E 5 5] & #1%23,938,0008 L (ZZTZT N\
Fm)o

(ii) Other receivables are unsecured, interest-free and have no (ii) H A UGB T EER - At EREEE
fixed repayment terms. BN o
Included in other receivables of the Group is a balance BHENRAEBREMEWRRES SR 2
of HK$350,000,000 (2008: HK$350,000,000) representing 350,000,000/ 7T (Z T ZT )\ & : 350,000,000
the unsettled cash consideration from the disposal of the BIT) AAEEE-—TE=FE HEHRNA
Group’s interest comprising 875 fully paid ordinary shares in fff B A FAIREXCAPITAL Infrastructure
REXCAPITAL Infrastructure Limited, a former subsidiary, in Limited 2875 E MR E BB 2R Z K
year 2003. IWERIR @K ME ©
None of the cash consideration of HK$350,000,000 was 350,000,000 T2 RE K EHREZA -
settled and there has not been any subsequent settlement HEUBHRZEBE AL - IAARBEA
up to the date of approval of the financial statements. A full Heg 2N - REECRUEFEELEE
provision has been made in prior years. i -

Also, included in other receivables of the Group is a balance SN REH I RIER B FE —

of HK$4,672,000 (2008: 4,672,000) representing deposit paid £ R #4,672,0008 T (Z T T\ F:

for exploring potential investment projects. Full provision was 4,672,000/87T) 248 - TIRBRBER

made on such balance in prior years because of cessation of BHEEMEMZETE c RBEFE > AR

the exploration. BERITHRIE  AEEEHZELEKRIED
ZHEE -

Moreover, a balance of HK$390,000 (2008: HK$390,000) Itk 41 - 390,000/ JT 2 45 # (= T T )\

represents a deposit paid to third party for patents application. 4 : 390,000 7T) JY 5t ER B B A i 2

A full provision is made in current year as the application is FE=ZAZE&E ° EA$¢F C HAREBE

withdrawn without refund. CHEmMI & RERE  NEBBHZE
FIBVEL 2 8BHE -

(iii) Included in other receivables was an amount of HK$10,062,000 (iii) BFER H A E YR IE R 210,062,0007% 7T

which was a deposit paid to an agent for acquisition of
additional interest in TSG. The transaction was completed
during the year and the amount was used as part of the
purchase consideration.

RBLIBETSGREM XN T —RKIE 25T
@ RHERFRTER * ZRBAEABIEK
BREZ D

FENBRRIZRARAF o 2009FRK
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28.

29.

30.

"

AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) 28. B (FBfY) RRKRBAEAQF
SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED MIE
COMPANIES
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and ZERBEDEER  RERAKER
are repayable on demand. SRIF o
During the year, amounts of HK$13,224,000 (2008: FA 13,224,000 T 2 HIE (= F
HK$17,264,000), represented receipt of operating =\ F 117,264,000 ) © BOMK &
payment on behalf of the Group, were due from rEBEW s RENTK H—2FE
companies in which a substantial shareholder had REEBERER I ANAIZRA &
beneficial interest. Approximately HK$11,500,000 & H 1 #11,500,000% T E & B
has been settled subsequent to the balance sheet 8 -
date.
HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 29. FHIFEERE
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET AT
Held for trading investments: FIEEEREA :
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, ERBLEMZBRABES
at fair values BN FEY R 16,721 76,809
Equity securities listed in elsewhere, FEE MR 2 AR
at fair values B AT EYER 3,472 6,568
20,193 83,377
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 30. BITERRKRRE

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by
the Group and short-term fixed bank deposits with
an original maturity of three months or less. Bank
balances carry interest at prevailing market interest
rates. The bank deposits and balances bear interest
of 0.3% to 1.6% (2008: 2.6% to 4.9%) per annum.
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. ENERMRKREMEMRKE
Details of the trade and other payables including FEBER R E M FET IR IR 3 E | HY
ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice ZHE (BIEENERERZERRDHT) W0
date, are as follows: ™

2009 2008
—EERE ZTT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT TET

Trade payables FETBR K
Within 90 days 90H A 986 12,497
91 to 180 days 912180H - 769
986 13,266
Deposit received from a customer BEFaI& 4,500 4,500
Other payables and accrued charges H N RIB R BT E A 10,079 11,089
15,565 28,855
At 31 March 2008, included in trade payables is an RZEENF=ZA=+—8 " 2R
amount of HK$12,306,000 payable to CUSEM. The J& - BR 5K FF 212,306,000 7T 4 FE 1<
amount is fully settled during the year. THEBRES ZHIE -  ZREEZRFER

2HMNE -

32. LOAN FROM A SHAREHOLDER 32. RREX
During the year and as at the balance sheet date, REARREE R - 14,594,000%
a loan of HK$14,594,000 was advanced from a TLZERTTBHEARR—NEERRR
substantial shareholder of the Company. The e ZEREREHRR RREEF
amount is unsecured, bearing interest at prime rate EINFEBEE 2% BERREKEEE

plus 2% per annum and is repayable on demand.

FEKBERERARAT © 200954 m
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33. BORROWINGS 33. f&
The borrowings which are repayable on demand are REREEZEESTWOT -
analysed as follows:

2009 2008
—EBEEAE _—ZTTN\F
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Other loan, unsecured HMER - mEHR - 600
The other loan borne interest at prime rate plus 3% Hth SRR BB EMIETE - B
with an effective interest rate of 8.3% per annum. RMERBBIE - FIEHERIERER
The proceed was used to finance the trading of REFFZER - MTAREBEARKE

. agn . rh 5 oo
investment securities. The whole amount was repaid EEE -
in current year.

34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34. fTESRMTIHE

2009 2008

—EENF —EENF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Warrants — listed in SEHK RIHETZ — PEES P B 427 112,797
On 8 November 2007, the Company had successfully RZZEZTELF+—ANB ' KAQF
placed 751,980,000 warrants in registered form, B Th LA &2 % 75 3 B £751,980,000
giving the holders thereof the rights to subscribe PRBREE BTRHAEAENRZ
up to 751,980,000 shares in aggregate in cash TEE+F+—AT=HEZ-ZZTZT AN
for HK$391,029,600 at an initial subscription price FTr+—A+-_ AR (EREEREM
of HK$0.52 per share, subject to anti-dilutive R) AERER  ROPRBEETR
adjustments, at any time from 13 November 2007 IR 70.52/% 7T (7] T R#SEFH &)
to 12 November 2009, both dates inclusive (the IH 4 A $£391,029,600/8 TRE R %
“Warrant Placing”). The warrants were issued at an 751,980,0008% A% 17 ([32 A # & B2
issue price of HK$0.034 per warrant. )  BRREFUNEITESFH0.034

BILET °

m China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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34.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

The gross proceeds from the Warrant Placing was
approximately HK$25,567,000. The transaction cost
of HK1,495,000 has been charged to consolidated
income statement last year.

Loss on derivative financial instruments classified as
financial liabilities held for trading of HK$87,230,000
was charged to the consolidated income statements
for the year ended 31 March 2008. The fair value of
the warrants as at 31 March 2008 was determined
by reference to the quoted market price of the
warrants.

No warrants have been exercised since the date of
Warrant Placing. Exercise in full of such warrants
would result in the issue of 751,980,000 additional
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company.

Though the derivative financial instruments are
quoted in an open market, there was no transaction
for the last five months for the year ended 31 March
2009. The directors, therefore, consider that the
quoted market price is not a reliable reference for the
fair value of the derivative financial instruments.

The fair value of the warrants as at 31 March
2009 of HK$427,000 has been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out on that date by
Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited, independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the
Company. The valuation was arrived at by reference
to binominal model at the valuation date.

34.

TTEERIA (&)

R EBRENSRBERENLS
25,567,000 70 - £F © SFREWE X
FE R R 51,495,000/ 7T ©

BREARFEECRAGBZITLESR
T A E51887,230,000 8 TERBE —
BENF=A=T—HLFEZ&ES
WRERPXH - R_TZENF=A=
+—B - RBREBZAAEBETIZE
RHER 2T HREET -

BRI A A LA R T
(T RIRIE ST © %% IR B i
FEYATE - SEHENETARA
751,980,000/% & i% H 150.0178 ot 2
A o

BENMEESRIEBELAFTSR
B ERFREBE_ZFTTENF=A=
T-HLEFERRAEAMERS -
At EFR RN BRELIFEEDT
EERTAZAARBEASERE -

—FZ © AR
i 2 A {E{E427,00008 T D E R B
RABWEBE 2 HISEBERML
BB EEN GERBRIFRN
ERMETZHENE MEEDZ
ZhEBHz —BAEAXGFE -
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. FTESRIH (&)

(Continued)
Details of the fair value of the warrants estimated N ZEZNE=F=+—HHNBE=-E
as at 31 March 2009 using the binomial model with KNERXN G2 RIREZE AL BEAR
the inputs are as follows: (Is AE) BT -
Share price HK$0.068 B (E 0.0683 7T
Exercise price HK$0.52 TEE 0.52% 7T
Option life 0.58 year B PG A2 4F HA 0.584F
Expected volatility 114% 78 2SR g 114%
Risk-free rate 2.5% 4 a5 g 1| =R 2.5%
Expected dividend yield 0% J8 ARG B &R 0%
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. BA&
Number
of shares Amount
ROHE k|
000 HK$°000
T FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each EREE0.01E T
7 AR
Authorised: SERE
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and R-_ZEZLFMA—H
31 March 2009 —EEN\F=A=1T—HK
“EENF=A=1+—H 100,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREBERA :
At 1 April 2007 RZZEZELFHPA—H 3,874,902 38,749
Exercise of warrants TERBRIEE 375,700 3,757
Exercise of share options 1T RE AR A 121,400 1,214
At 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2009 R N\F=A=1+—HBK

—EEAF=HA=+—H 4,372,002 43,720

m China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 35. RA& (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2008, an aggregate N2 —_EENF=B=+—HI=F
of 375,700,000 new shares of the Company of €+ #£375,700,00017 3R A% 1 & & 1T

=

HK$0.01 each were issued for cash at a subscription
price of HK$0.116 each pursuant to the exercise of
375,700,000 warrants for a total cash consideration
of HK$43,581,000. Accordingly, additional share
capital of HK$3,757,000 and share premium of
HK$39,824,000, not including the amount transferred
from warrant reserve, was resulted. As at 31 March
2009, except for the warrants disclosed in note 34,
there are no other outstanding warrants.

For the year ended 31 March 2008, subscription
rights attached to 16,100,000 and 105,300,000
share options of the Company were exercised at
the subscription price of HK$0.088 and HK$0.166
per share respectively, giving rise to the issue of
121,400,000 shares of HK$0.01 each for a total
consideration of HK$18,897,000. Accordingly,
additional share capital of HK$1,214,000 and share
premium of HK$17,683,000, before netting-off issue
expenses and not including the amount transferred
from share option reserve, was resulted.

fF - EEIERBESRN6EBLEH
% 17375,700,0000% & fix E 180.01%
TTZARAFBABREIRE - 8IF &
K18 543,581,000/ 70 » E It - EE
B AR H03,757,000/8 7T AT EIE
ERERREEREREZBELT
815 R 170 % 1839,824,000/8 ¢ - X —
EZNF=ZA=+—8 ' BKE34F
WEE 2 RARMEESIN - WEE AL R RTT
2 RIXHERE ©

REBEZE_ZEFENF=-A=+—BLHF
g » KA 7]16,100,00017 1 105,300,000
MERIEREN 2 R EEITE - RE
85 B A& & P20.088/% T & & A%0.166
7 7T+ BA BRZE B 97121,400,0008%
BEEBEBCOIETZRGD BREA
18,897,000/ 7T © At - B BARANIE 1N
1,214,000 7T : W IR 2 1THA X Al
RABIEER B ERERERIEZER
T - 81588154 E17,683,000/8 7T °
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36.

"

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

THE COMPANY

On 29 July 2002, the Company adopted a share
Under the
2002 Scheme, the directors are authorised, at

option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”).

their discretion, to offer eligible participants, being
employees (whether full time or part time), business
consultants, agents, financial or legal advisors
whom the directors consider, in sole discretion,
have contributed to the Group, options to subscribe
for new shares of the Company. The directors are
authorised to determine exercise price, such price
will not be less than the highest of (a) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the SEHK’s daily
quotations on the date of offer, which must be a
business day; (b) the average of the closing prices of
the shares as stated in the SEHK’s daily quotations
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer; and (c) the nominal value of an
ordinary share. There is no general requirement
that an option must be held for any minimum
period before it can be exercised but the directors
are empowered to impose at their discretion any
requirements at the time of granting any particular
option. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee
is required to pay a consideration of HK$1.00 for
each lot of share options granted on or before the
30 days after the option is offered.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option will be determined by the directors
at their discretion but will not be later than 10 years
after the date of adoption of the 2002 Scheme.
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36.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the 2002 Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company (including
exercised and outstanding options) to each of the
eligible participants in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares
in issue as at the date of grant.

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the 2002 Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company on the
date of approval and adoption of the 2002 Scheme
provided that the Company may at any time seek
approval from its shareholders to refresh the limit
to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of
approval by the shareholders in general meeting
where such limit is refreshed.

36. UGB 2@EE ©)

ENNCREG -

BEZTE _Fi 8| RAAREMRE
AR AT B TR S ERSEE
ZERE (BREITERKRITEZR
BRAE) BITEME KA RETIAETZ
BHBRE - REBERLEBEHIEEAT
—EABEA TEZREHAHE
BIRDZ1% °

RiRE - FTZT - F5t 8 AR REM
H i fE O A 81X 2 P B I Ui &
TTEMAREERITZBRNEE T
SEREARRNILENKHN —_TET
FAHEERZEEITHRAZ10% * 1
AN B AL P E T B (R = SR E BROCR #HE
BHRE  ERRMERFHZREL
BRAEEBE#HITRGN210% °
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 36. MRz E @)
(Continued)
THE COMPANY (Continued) AT (&)
The movement of the share options granted by the WE_EE-_FHE AN R 2B
Company under the 2002 Scheme are as follows: IRAEEFHINT
Granted Exercised Outstanding
Outstanding during the during the at 31.3.2008
Exercise at  yearended yearended and
Date of grant price  Exercisable period 1.4.2007 31.3.2008 31.3.2008 Reclassification 31.3.2009
A28 \¢
BE BE ZR=t1-H
N-BRtLE “E3)\E “EEN\E —337#
BA-B =R=t-A ZA=t-A ZA=t-B
1 ikl kS WATE  LEEARE  LEERGE EEipL ] HATE
HKS (note ) (note il
AT (Kt (Kt ii)
Employees 22.6.2005 0.166  27.6.2005-26.6.2015 25,000,000 - (25,000,000) - -
8 ZETRE ZETRESAC TR
~AZTZH FIT-RENACTRA
22.6.2005 0166  20.7.2005-19.7.2015 300,000 - (300,000) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Sl ZETRELACTA
oY g E23-RELATAA
4.9.2007 0.566  3.10.2007-2.10.2017 - 19,700,000 - - 19,700,000
I 5Tt A=A
NAEA EI3-t5TAZA
Directors of the Company  25.11.2004 0.088  20.12.2004-19.12.2014 23,100,000 - - - 23,100,000
NG “EIME “EEMET-A=1A
t-A-t2A 3CF-PIETZATARA
22.6.2005 0.166  27.6.2005-26.6.2015 2,600,000 - - (1,000,000) 1,600,000
:EZﬁ 77735@/\@ +t5
NAZTZH E2E5-RFNAZTRA
Consultants (note i) 22.12.2003 0.160  1.1.2004-1.1.2014 16,117,006 - - - 16,117,006
B (R CEE-F —E2TPE-A-A
g iy F22-ME-A-A
25.11.2004 0088 20.12.2004-19.12.2014 39,200,000 - (16,100,000) - 23,100,000
ZEENF :??M%’ﬂ’ﬂ
+-B=11H ECE-METATAAR
22.6.2005 0.166 2762005 26.6.2015 53,000,000 - (53,000,000) - -
:ggﬁﬁ _7jﬁ¢/\ﬂ HB
~BZTZH T-RENAZ %/\H
22.6.2005 0.166 2072005 19.7.2015 126,000,000 - (27,000,000) - 99,000,000
Z3%1% ‘**ﬂﬁtﬂ TH
~ZtZA E-REtATAA
4.9.2007 0.566 31020072102017 - 326,300,000 - - 326,300,000
I = qfﬁﬂ A
AARA F-+E+AZH
Directors and employees ~ 4.9.2007 0.566 3102007210201 - 30,000,000 - - 30,000,000
of an associate (note i) —ET L% 35T A=A
BENTEERER AARA FIE-tETACR
Uik
285,317,006 376,000,000  (121,400,000) - 539,917,006
Exercisable at the end
of the year
EXBATR 539,917,006
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36.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

36.

U A 2 dE &)

Notes: P 5

(i) The consideration received in prior year from the consultants, (i) EXFEWEHE A BB  EEREENUR
directors and employees of the associates and employees AEEREEFAABMRLEREZRE
of the Group for taking up the options granted amounted to B54BTT ©
HK$54.

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2008, share options were (i) RBEZZTN\F=A=+—HIFE"

granted to consultants and directors and employees of an
associate for their marketing services, advisory services
and technical consultancy services provided to the Group in
connection with the photovoltaic business (the “Services”). In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, as the Services
provided to the Group were unique, they could not measure
the fair value of the Services reliably. Therefore, fair value
of the Services provided to the Group were measured by
reference to the fair value of the share options issued and
charged to the consolidated income statement during the year
ended 31 March 2008.

(iii) The share options were granted to Mr Chu Chik Ming Jack
who resigned on 22 December 2008 but still remained as the
director of the subsidiaries of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the estimated
fair value of the share options that granted on 4
September 2007 was amounting to HK$117,099,000.
The share options were vested immediately as at
the date of grant.

In respect of the share options exercised in during
the year end 31 March 2008, the weighted average
share price of the Company at the dates of exercise
was HK$0.546 per share.

Details of the fair value of the share options
determined at the date of grant on 4 September
2007 using the binomial model with the inputs are
as follows:

REEBEREESREBEBE T IHHE
EBRTE 7 8 AR 7% Ko s i B R AR A (T AR
Bl mMABERAREEAREERESR
THREE ARBAEERS AAKEM
REZIRBEE - REr SEHFAEBRBEZ
AR EE - Bt - }zﬁi?'ZKEIZEIﬁ&Z
RABEDZEZERTIEEHE
NE=ZRA=+—HLFEZHER
sz E AR BENE -

s iEEP

(iii) BRETIR T AREREE  FRZZFN
FE+-A-+—A%HE BNEBASEN
BRARIZESE -

/\lu

BE-_ZZNF=ZA=1+—B8LtHF
B R-ZETLFNANBMKEHE
IR #E 2 fHET A B 1E A117,099,000
BT BERAEBREENIREE BRI
5B -

ARBE_ZFTZNEF=ZA=1+—HI
FREIEZBREMNS  RITEER
ZAR R RN FIG R E R FAX0.54678
JG ©

R-ZTLFNAANBREEBNA
_IEiTiﬂﬁémZE%Hx%QﬁF@%
B (M AE) T -

Share price at date of grant HK$0.53 Y HEZIRE 0.5387T
Exercise price HK$0.566 TEE 0.5663& 7T
Expected volatility 74% & HE 3R g 74%
Risk-free rate 2.577% 40 [ g 1) = 2577%
Expected dividend yield 0% Y8 HA G B 2K 0%
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36.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price
over the previous 7 years.

36.

U 2 E &)

ENNCREG -

EHRESAMARARRENBEL
FZELMEEE °

The Binomial model has been used to estimate AEED A BN EA (H TS p& #E
the fair value of the options. The variables and ZANEBME FTEEEEALBHEE
assumptions used in computing the fair value of )Efr)zﬁZm%(&ﬁ“ﬂ)‘gug%,zﬂ—{i@
the share options are based on the directors’ best SAAEEM BERkEs BEeRES T
estimate. The value of an option varies with different TEEL Y TR mAE -

variables of certain subjective assumptions.

For the year ended 31 March 2008, an amount of
share-based payment expenses in respect of its
share options of approximately HK$117,099,000
has been recognised in the consolidated income
statement with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the Group’s share option reserve.

SUBSIDIARY

On 31 December 2005, TSG, a subsidiary of the
Group, implemented a share option scheme (the
“2005 Scheme”). Under the 2005 Scheme, TSG’s
directors (the “TSG directors”) are authorised to
offer share options of TSG to eligible participants,
being directors, officers and other employee of TSG
as well as consultants of TSG and its subsidiaries,
with a vesting period from one to three years.
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36.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The TSG directors are authorised to determine
exercise price per share. Such price shall not be
less than (i) 110% of the fair market value per share
on the date of grant if the options are granted to
employee as defined under 2005 Scheme and at
the time of grant of the options, the employee owns
more than 10% of the voting power of all classes
of shares of TSG or any parent or subsidiary; or (ii)
the fair market value per share on the date of grant
for cases other than that described in (i).

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option will be determined by the TSG
directors, but not more than 5 or 10 years from
the date of grant, depending on the situations as
described in the 2005 Scheme. The options granted
under the 2005 Scheme shall be exercisable upon
its having vested in accordance with the vesting
schedule and upon and after the registration date.

The aggregate number of shares which may be
issued pursuant to the 2005 Scheme is 1,500. If
any option granted under the 2005 Scheme shall
expire or terminate for any reason without having
been exercised in full or shall cease for any reason
to be exercisable in whole or in part, or if TSG
shall reacquire any option, the unpurchased shares
subject to such options shall again be available
for grants of options under the 2005 Scheme. The
maximum aggregate number of shares of TSG that
may be granted in the form of share options in any
one fiscal year to an eligible participant shall be
1,000 shares.

36. UGB 2@EE ©)

MWEAR (&)

TSCE=EREET MMM 217E
B E()WNEBREDETRE-_ZZ
IFsrElER2EE  MEREER
ERBRERERBBTSGHHATR
A B AR B RRIRG 2R
10%  BEEBBRIEERRELEBES
Bz RRhMEZI110% : k(i) &)
Pt IE R IASNE - BRABR TR ER
REBERZAATE -

AREBEBREABRND 2HRHTSG
EFETE WRIR _-_ZEZERFE
At 2 180 - TS Z MEF H104F -
REFBERE  ARREMBE LR
% BM_TEERFAERD 2 BEE
REFBRAITTHE o

BIE ST RTS8 T 2D
B A1,500/0% - WIE ST RF
B 2 E BRI HE
R R AL T R EREITE - kA
ERREMS 23k o KT
£ - 3 HTSGH 8 o T {7 B8 % 4 -
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36. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
(Continued)

36. UGB 2@EE ©

SUBSIDIARY (Continued) MEDT (&)

RE_ZTAFAEARLZBEREL

The movement of the share options granted under

the 2005 Scheme are as follows: gEmT
2009 2008
—BENF —EENF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
e s
HE TEE #HH 1TEE
HK$ HK$
BT PBTT
Outstanding at 1 April R A—HEARITE 741 6,154 1,058 6,154
Cancelled Eaic] - - (48) 6,154
Lapsed EY (95) 6,154 (269) 6,154
Outstanding at 31 March R=A=+—Hi&*%
171E 646 6,154 741 6,154

R-ETNhF=A=+—"H @&
—EET)N\F 233) BRECEFEEB
RalF11E - R-EENF=HA=1
— BB ARITEZBRER B B Bt
E_FT—AF+_A=+—HBILHA
A TATE -

As at 31 March 2009, no (2008: 233) share options
were vested and exercisable. The outstanding share
options as at 31 March 2009 are exercisable from the
date of vesting to 31 December 2015.

BE_ZSTAFFAEIRFARL 2B
RIEDBBERBTBREERFE25A
IR BctE (ZZFZ\F : 373,000
BIL) ERBE_ZTETAF=ZA=1
—BILEFEZHFENRERERBETL
PR o

The share options granted under the 2005
Scheme during the year have been accounted
for under HKFRS 2 and as a result, nil (2008:
HK$373,000) has been recognised as staff costs
in the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 March 2009.
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37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 37. REHEAR
At the balance sheet date, the Group had REER  AEERBEE@AEEY
commitments for future minimum lease payments in ERLNEMEE s HEBERBRIEZ
respect of rented premises and other assets which BB RN
fall due as follows:
2009 2008
—EEhE —EENFE
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHT FHT
Within one year —&F R 2,498 879
In the second to fifth year inclusive “ERF (BREEEMRSF) 640 7
3,138 956
Operating lease payments for the year represent FRZEEMERIBRANEE oL ot
rentals payable by the Group for its office premises NREYERAMEERN2EE W
and other assets whereas the operating lease EFEREMERBENBREERAE
payments for last year included the lease of its MEZHEE HEFHAREME (=
office premises. The lease run for an average term TENF : MF)  AEEAEERE
of two years (2008: two years), with an option HREFTHARETERGER - HE
to renew the lease and renegotiate the terms at WEBEEMAKEHES -
the expiry date. The lease does not include any
contingent rentals.
38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. BEARE®
Pursuant to the signing of an agreement regarding BE—HERNBARAR-ZEZTLF
to an investment in an associate by an subsidiary AFAZ+—BR—HEBEARZ
on 21 May 2007, the Group was required to make REZFFT2WE ~A5EEED
capital contribution of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent A E #100,000,0007T (48 & © &

to approximately HK$110,000,000). As at 31
March 2008, the Group did not make any capital
contribution for the investment. As a result, a capital
commitment of HK$110,000,000 arose as at 31
March 2008.

The associate was dissolved by its shareholders
on 24 February 2009. Accordingly, the capital
commitment no longer exists as at 31 March
2009.

110,000,000870) 2 /& - RZEZ
NEZA=Z+—8  AEELERK
EIE R =ZEENF=ZA=+—
HZE 110,000,000/ 7T 2 & A& ©

ZHBE NN ETEAEFE A -1
HRERERER - At - & RXEAFER
—ERNF=ZA=t—HETERFE -

FENBRRIZRARAF o 2009FRK



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt & 3R & Kis
For the year ended 31 March 2009 HZE—_ZTTNF=A=+—HILFE

F
20

39. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT

39. FEHREE

(@) As at 25 May 2009, R—ZTEENRFRA=-+HA -

incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary
in the PRC with registered capital of
USD100,000, named as # € M EE L BELIR
BBR/AF]. The subsidiary is mainly engaged
in manufacturing, marketing and sales of
photovoltaic solar cells, modules and panels
for generating solar electric power.

the Group had (a)

AEBRFARFIMAL—FE2
EMBAAIB#EMERENLSE
RERERAR TMEXRE
100,000%% 7T « ZMB AR EE
NERIGRERE 2 IR KI5 EE
T B ZEEIRZAEE
EHNIHE o

(b) Pursuant to the prospectus issued by (b) BEAEER-_ZTNLFLA
the Group dated 6 July 2009, the Group NBZETZHERER  A&E
completed a rights issue of 2,186,000,929 ERNESBHEEEMRRK
rights shares at HK$0.08 per rights share 31T — IR IR IR 10 2 EEXE A
on the basis of one rights share for every & % 4 P A% 190.087%8 JT 58 A
two shares held on the record date. The [%2,186,000,929 % £ i% I% 17 °
proceeds of the rights issue will be used for HEFMEREERNAEEZ
working capital of the Group, repayment of BELES  BREINLNERE
loan and timely investment when investment 8 LIRS R IR E o
opportunities arise.

(c) As at 18 July 2009, the Group revised the (c) RZEZEAFLA+NH' XK

purchasing agreement dated 21 December
2006 with a customer located in PRC (the
“Customer”). Pursuant to the purchasing
agreement revision of 30 units of 5MW thin
film a-Si PV manufacturing equipment, the
Group will first complete 12 units of 5MW
thin film a-Si PV manufacturing equipment to
the Customer by end of June 2010 and the
remaining contract will be fulfilled thereafter.
The contract sum for each 5SMW thin film a-Si
PV manufacturing equipment is approximately
USD12,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$93,000,000).
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BEALRS

FRAREEBFEATRETHAT

During the year, the Group had transactions with

related parties as follows: R :

2009 2008
—EEhE —EENFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT

Interest expense (note a) MEFXZ (Msta) 594 1

Secondment service income (note b) BT REUA (FizEb) - 2,915

Subcontracting fee (note c) #=BER (HiEe) 11,700 66,483

Purchase of photovoltaic hardware BERREHRZE

and equipment (note d) (PffsEd) 66,728 -
Commission expenses (note e) AeMx (Mxe) 155 237
Operating lease charges in respect of MAEMEZREHEER

office premises (note f) (B 5EF) 665 -

Notes: FIEE

(a) During the year, an interest expense of HK$594,000 was (a) F A - 594,000 T2 F BRI IRHAR
charged by a shareholder of the Company in relation to a A)ER —TH14,000,0007% T2 R E 5K M
shareholder’s loan of HK$14,000,000 granted to the Company. SNFARARKE - B—FHHE EFELE
On the other hand, the interest expense incurred in last year ZAERYE—EARREZEHER
represented a short-term loan advanced from a company in MARAR—HMBRARZ — N EBEAZ
which a director of a subsidiary of the Company has a equity NE]ZRRHE ©
interest.

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2008, secondment service (b) HEZZTZN\F=A=1+—HILFE"
income of HK$2,915,000 was received from secondment of 2,915,0007% T 2 f& 38 AR B W A TY B 1A —
staff to a company in which a director of a subsidiary of the FARRMERE TREAAKER - AR
Company has a equity interest. No such secondment service Al—HNBARZ NEZREEZAFLZ
is provided by the Group during the year. fRHE - A - REEWARIBHZAREAR

% o

(c) A subcontracting fee for construction work of HK$11,700,000 (c) 11,700,000/ 7T (=ZZ/\ 4 : 57,040,000
(2008: HK$57,040,000) was paid to CUSEM for the production BIT) ZEXRTIREABERIIBEERGE
of solar cells, modules and panels. In addition, HK$9,443,000 B BEREERMZ A FHRERS -
for the year ended 31 March 2008 was settled by share AN RBEZTETN\F=A=+—H1t
options granted to service providers, being the directors and G [§ 29,443,0007% 7T T3 LA M) AR 75 £t FE 7Y
employees of a subsidiary of the Group’s associate for the (AAREEBENE 2 —HNBARZES
technical advisory services rendered to the Group. No share kES) BHBERERNEN - tFRAARE
option has been granted in current year. EREEME AR o RAFE I EER

(AR B ARAE -

(d) During the year, the Group purchased photovoltaic hardware (d) FR AEBMPEBSEEEE
and equipment of HK$66,728,000 from CUSEM. 66,728,000/ 7T 2 SR BE (4 e 52 o

(e) Commission expenses of HK$155,000 (2008: HK$237,000) (e) 155,000 7T (= T T )\ F : 237,000/

was paid to a related company, in which a director of
a subsidiary of the Company has an equity interest, for
managing the investment securities of a subsidiary of the
Company.

7)) 2R TIBERIB AR Al — FH B
RAZKEEBELFXNT—HBAEAR - M
ARF—RMBRRZ NEEHEXH
BRBZREE -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BEALIRS (®)
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) BT ()
(f) During the year, operating lease payments of HK$665,000 (f) FR 6650008 (ZEENF:T)F
(2008: nil) in respect of leases of office premises were BHERAEYE ZKEHERBI S
charged by companies in which a director of a subsidiary of FREE—RMRBARZ —fIEEFNEF
the Group has a beneficial interest. The lease agreement was HAERERZZE AR - HEH:EZE
entered for a fixed period of two years. EFHATAMF o
The key management personnel of the Group is the AEBCTEEBAEBREE EF
directors and details of the directors’ emoluments e B N E16EE - BEAA
are disclosed in note 15. Details of the share AT EEEIRE S TN 136
options of the Company granted to the directors are EE o
disclosed in note 36.
41. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 41. ERBERIGE

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the “Scheme”) for all qualifying employees
of the Group in Hong Kong. The Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs to the Scheme, which
contribution is matched by the employees. The
maximum amount of contribution is limited to
HK$1,000 per each employee. The assets of the
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of the trustees.

There are retirement plans established in the United
States for all domestic employees who meet certain
eligibility requirements as to age and length of
service.

The retirement benefits cost charged to the
consolidated income statement of approximately
HK$578,000 (2008: HK$381,000)
contributions payable to schemes by the Group

represents

at rates specified in the rules of the various
schemes.
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42.

43.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 42.

(i) Deposit of HK$10,062,000 paid during the
year 31 March 2008 had been used to settle
part of the consideration of the acquisition of
additional interest in a subsidiary.

(ii) Inventories of HK$42,737,000 acquired during
the year ended 31 March 2009 were settle by
the trade deposit paid during the year ended
31 March 2008.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF 43.

THE COMPANY

Percentage of

TEFRERS
() REBE-_TENF=A=+-

B 1k E BT X it 210,062,000
BLZREERNBERE—
EIF B R R B IMER 2 B0

(i) REZ=E

A e

HIEFEE A4E42,737,000
BILZTFETIUABE_ZEZEN
FZA=+t—BLEFEIZIMZ

BHRI2EME -

RATMBRAZFHE

Percentage of

Place of issued  issued capital held Principal activity
Name incorporation share capital by the Company  and place operations
NG
£ aEf AR L3t B ERTRAESE CROREAEAIL IEXBRERBE
2009 2008
“BEAE ZTT)\F
REXCAPITAL Group Limited  British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in
KERUEE 1REBRERIET Hong Kong
REBRERERER
Golden Chino Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Participation in primary
RERAEE 1RERRERIZT and secondary securities
market in Hong Kong
REBZEIRR
REERTZED
Eaglefly Technology Limited  British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in
RERUHS 1REBRERIET Hong Kong
REAREREAR
China Solar Energy Group Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 100% 100% Production of solar
Limited BB 1REBRERIBT energy products

REAREER

FEKBTERARAT « 200954 m
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43.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Percentage of

AATHB LR Z2&F1E (©)

Percentage of

Place of issued  issued capital held Principal activity
Name incorporation share capital by the Company  and place operations
NG
£ aEfR AR 3L 3t B ERTRAESE CROREAEIL IEXRBRERBE
2009 2008
“EERF —ZT)\E
Add Result Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in
KERUEE 1REBRERIET Hong Kong
REBRFREER
China Solar Energy Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 100% 100% Inactive
Development Limited EE 1RERRERIET IR
REXCAPITAL (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong 10,000,000 ordinary 100% 100% Provision of investment
Limited BA shares of HK$1 each advisory services in
HREE (54) BRAA 10,000,000 Hong Kong
LERBRIEL REBREREBRERS
REXCAPITAL Enterprises Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Provision of management
Limited BB HK$1 each services in Hong Kong
WREEBRAT 2REBRERIET REAREEERE
D & M Finance Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Money lending in
Bk HK$1 each Hong Kong
2REBRBRIET RERREEN
REXCAPITAL International Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 100% 100% Inactive
Holdings Limited &5 1REBRERBT FInE
HRERZERERA
China Solar Energy (Macau) Macau 25,000 ordinary share of 100% 100% Inactive
Limited R Macau Pataca 1 each FER
25,000/% & @R
BR1RMT
REXCAPITAL Technology British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in
Limited KBRS TREBRERIET Hong Kong
REBNFREER
REXCAPITAL Financial British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in

Services Limited

REBRLES

China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

43. KR TIMB AR ZFHE (&)

Percentage of Percentage of

Place of issued issued capital held Principal activity
Name incorporation share capital by the Company and place operations
ERARE
£ 1R B 3t B ERTRAEAL EEORFEIL IEXBREXBE
2009 2008
“BRAE-TT)\F
REXCAPITAL Strategic British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in
Investments Limited KBRS TREBRERIET Hong Kong
REBUEREAER
REXCAPITAL Management British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in
Limited KBRS 1REBRERIET Hong Kong
REBHREREER
Capital View Investments British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%  Provision of nominee
Limited EBERUES 1REBRERIET services in Hong Kong
REBRAAIE AR
Twin Star Agents Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%  Holding nominees shares
EERUES 1R BRERIET for the Group in
Hong Kong
RASERERRA
RIE ARk
REXCAPITAL Secretarial Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of ~ 100% 100%  Provision of secretarial
Services Limited B HK$1 each services in Hong Kong
HENERKERAF 2REBRERIET REBREWE RS
Terra Solar Global, Inc. United States of 10,000 ordinary shares of 68% 60% Investment holding in
America US$0.01 each the United States
X8 10,0008 & &k RNEBUEZREER
FRO.01ET
Terra Solar North America, Inc. United States of 200 ordinary shares, 68% 60% Licensing of patent rights
America no par value in the United States
X8 200REEELER REBHE DB ER|EFA
Terra Solar Global Taiwan Taiwan 100,000 ordinary shares 100% N/A" Dormant
Holdings Limited =y of Taiwan dollars 10 each TER Eaue
LERHABEBHERAR 100,000/ & R
Bik10a%

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities at the end of the year.

RER BENBAREEITEME
BES -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY EE B EEE

B
ey

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—-HLEE
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
“BEANFE —TTN\E —FTLF —TEF _"TTIHF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FTAT TAT FAT FHT

RESULTS £
Revenue WA 18,475 97,668 41,123 12,354 3,769
Loss before taxation Sl 2 (47,624)  (215,323)  (17,007)  (99,665)  (375,796)
Tax credit (expense) HEE R (Fx) 1,130 (996) (431) (118) (517)
Loss for the year ENEE (46,494)  (216,319)  (17.438)  (99,783)  (376,313)
Loss attributable to: FEIRETE

Equity holders of the Company A &%

HHA (44,383)  (215125)  (14,581)  (97,848)  (376,313)
Minority interests DE IR R (2,111) (1,194) (2,857) (1,935) —

(46,494)  (216,319) (17,438) (99,783)  (376,313)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE

Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% « % k& & 533 752 905 12,106 3
Intangible assets B EE 96,059 110,117 124,175 138,233 =
Goodwill S 36,592 17,213 - - 47,890
Net current assets mBEEFE 117,078 143,145 210,251 179,774 38,042
Interest in an associate NN
s - 6,738 = = -
Amount due from the majority ~ FEU—EEE S A A
shareholder of an associate AR IR 5,911 16,517 = = =
Available-for-sale investments ~ A[fEHERE - - 7,750 = =
Other receivables Hib R - 10,062 = - -
Net assets BESE 256,173 304,544 343,081 330,113 85,935
Share capital [N 43,720 43,720 38,749 36,326 27,525
Reserves & 206,956 251,339 291,864 278,929 58,410
Equity attributable to equity ARAERFAA
holders of the Company FE(G s 250,676 295,059 330,613 115,255 85,935
Share option reserve of —HHB AR
a subsidiary R 977 977 604 137 -
Minority interests DR RS 4,520 8,508 11,864 14,721 =
Total equity o 256,173 304,544 343,081 330,113 85,935

m China Solar Energy Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2009
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